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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements ot EFG Private Bank Limited ("the
Company") for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Company is authorised by the Prudential Regulation
Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority,
the Prudential Regulation Authority and the Jersey Financial
Services Commission.

Principal activities

The Company provides banking, stockbroking, wealth
management and investment advisory services for private
clients and their corporate interests. As an integral part of
these activities, the Company is active in the money markets
in both deposit taking and lending, engages in spot and
forward foreign exchange business, as well as undertaking
transactions in securities, off-balance sheet instruments
and derivatives, primarily on behalf of clients.

The Company's wholly owned subsidiary in Guernsey, EFG
Private Bank (Channel Istands) Limited, provides similar
services to those of the Company. In 2017, the Company was
granted a licence for a branch in Jersey. The Jersey branch,
EFG Private Bank Limited Jersey Branch, commenced trading
on 5% November 2018 with the transfer of clients from the
Jersey branch of EFG Private Bank (Channel Istands) Limited.

Immediate parent company

The Company's immediate parent company is EFG
International AG (“EFGI"), a company incorporated in
Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, into which
the Company's results are consolidated (see website:
www.efginternational.com). In accordance with permitted
exemptions, no separate consolidated financial statements ,
of the UK sub-group are prepared.

Other borrowed funds

The Company has borrowed GBP 66,630,000 (2017: GBP
66,630,000} in additional tier | capital from a group entity.
Details are disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements.

Property plant and equipment

The changes in property plant and equipment are set out in
Note 28 to the financial statements.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served during the year
and up to the date of the signing of the Annual report and
financial statements were:

A Cooke-Yarborough

M Higgin

] E Mathias (Resigned 31 March 2019)..
D Politis '

P Pradelli

} Reed - Chairman

A Simmonds

R Thomas - Chief executive officer

All directors served throughout the year except for R
Thomas who was appointed on 2" January 2019.

Details of Directors' interests in the shares of the immediate
parent company EFGI are contained in their financial
statements. None of the Directors has any notifiable
interest in the shares of the Company or any other parent
or subsidiary undertaking,

Charitable donations

During the year the Company made donations totalling GBP
6,652 (2017: GBP 31,365) to various charities in support of
their social responsibility objectives. No political donations

were made (2017: Nil).

Dividends

An interim dividend of £8,000,000 was declared and paid in
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
Nil)..No final dividend is proposed (2017: Nil).

Employees

The Company is committed to providing employment
practices and policies which recognise the diversity of its
workforce and ensure equality for all employees regardiess
of sex, race, disability, age, sexual orientation or religious
beliefs. Employees are updated on any changes that may
affect them via regular internal communications and
briefings. Eligible employees are required to participate in a
deferral scheme whereby an element of variable ,
compensation is deferred and settled at a future date either
in cash or equity-settled via options granted over shares in
EFGI. In addition, the Company operates a HMRC approved
Share Incentive Plan which is available to all employees,
including those of its subsidiary companies.

Annual Report 2018 | 3



\_r‘
-
&)

Report of the Direct

Directors’ remuneration

Details of the remuneration of directors who served during
the year are as follows:

Yearended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017

GRP 000 GBP ‘000

retirement benefits are accruing under

a money purchase scheme _ 11
Number of directors awarded share T
OB OIS et ot S S S e o T TS B
Number of directors exercising share

OBHONS. . om e 1.

Post balance sheet events

There have been no material post balance sheet events.

Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under those laws the
Directors have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under
company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In
preparing the financial statements, the directors are
required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

. state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and
. prepare the financial statements on the going

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain:
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006.

In the case of each director in office at the date the
Directors' Report is approved:

. 50 far as the director is aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware; and

. they have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company's auditors are aware of
that information. '

Statement of disclosure of information to the auditors
Each of the directors confirms that:

(a) so far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company's auditors are
unaware; and

(b) they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken
as directors in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company's auditors are aware of that information,

Independent Auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, are deemed to
be reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act
2006.-
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"Report of the Directors

Matter covered in the Strategic Report

Details regarding a review of the business, including future
developments, dividends, existence of branches outside of
the UK, principal risks and uncertainties are provided in the
Strategic Report on pages 6 to 9.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 10th April 2019 and
signed on its behalf by:

-Chairman
10th April 2019
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Strategic Report of the Directors

The Company recorded a profit of GBP 35,553,000 (2017: GBP
9,713,000) and the details of its results are set out in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. An interim
dividend payment of GBP 8,000,000 was declared and paid
in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: NIL).

The 2018 financial result reflects a sotid performance of the
underlying business.

The Company's core business and its strategy of providing
high quality private banking services to a range of
individuals, corporate entities, trusts and institutional
clients did not materially change in the year. The model of
organic growth through its team of experienced relationship
managers continued to prove itself to be the right onein a
challenging business environment where market volatility
and political risk continue to provide headwinds.

Income growth continues and the Company's capital
position is sound and in excess of regutatory thresholds.
Asset quality remains strong. The Company continues to
maintain a solid liquidity position benefiting from a stable
funding source of client deposits.

Some of the notable events experienced by the business
during the year include:

- Operating income (excluding dividend income) increased
by 12% (2017: 17% increase).

- Net interest income increased by 16% (2017: 21% increase),
principally driven by loan bock growth.

- Net fee and commission income increased by 10% overall
(2017: 13% increase), principally the result of a 10% increase
in wealth management fees driven by higher AUM balances
that benefitted from strong market appreciation for much of
2018.

- Operating expenses increased by 10% (2017: 29%
decrease). Excluding depreciation, operating expenses
increased by 8% reflecting business focus on controlling
costs, whilst continuing to invest selectively in regulatary
and systems infrastructure improvement projects. The
increased depreciation charge in 2018 resulted from
identification of a ditapidations requirement within the
lease commitments. The catch up in provision over the
term of the lease resulted in an additional GBP 624,000
charge in the year.

- Staff expenses increased by 8% (2017: 13% ) due to the
increased investment in the business.

- On 28th February 2017 the sale of the Company's
subsidiary EFG Independent Financial Advisors Ltd was
completed. All outstanding aspects of the sale and
purchase agreement are now completed and the final
deferred consideration was received in 2018. An additional
loss of GBP 167,000 was recognised in the year (2017: GBP
115,000 loss)

- Customer loans increased by 5% to GBP 1.663bn (2017: 1%
increase to GBP 1.581bn) including transfers in as part of the
new Jersey Branch and the effect of the sub-participation
transactions described below.

- As part of its balance sheet management strategy, the
Company entered into a number of sub-participation
transactions during 2018 to sell the full economic risks and
rewards of GBP 223,700,000 of mortgage-backed loans to
the following EFGl entities:

« EFG Private Bank (Channel Islands) Ltd  GBP 100,300,000
(sold April 2018)

e EFG Bank AG (Cayman branch) GBP 123,400,000
(sold October 2018)

An additional GBP 27,000,000 was sub-participated during
2018 to Chestnut [l Mortgage Financing Il plc under the
terms of that facility.

The sales resulted in the complete derecognition of these
loan assets from the Company balance sheet in return for
payment of an equivalent amount in cash. The Company
continues to act as lender of record for the underlying loans
and also administers the loans in return for a fee payable
by the economic owner.

- Customer deposits increased overall by 16% (GBP 0.316bn)
to GBP 2.245bn (2017: 8% increase GBP 0.137bn) including
GBP 0.440bn transferred from the Jersey Branch. Excluding
the new Jersey Branch, customer deposits decreased 10% in
the year.

- During 2017 the Company was granted a licence to operate
a branch in Jersey. The Branch commenced trading on 5t
November 2018 with the transfer of the clients of the Jersey
Branch of the Company's Guernsey subsidiary, EFG Private
Bank (Channel Islands) Ltd. Loans and advances to
customers of GBP 112,896,000 together with deposits from
customers of GBP 440,076,000 were transferred into the new
Branch. The standalone Branch had net income for the 2018
operating period of GBP 782,881.

- The Company's Guernsey subsidiary, EFG Private Bank
(Channel Istands) Ltd, made profits after tax of GBP
16,983,000 in 2018 (2017: GBP 18,396,000) . Dividends of GBP
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Stra v-ic Report of the Directors

33,000,000 were received in 2018 from this subsidiary (2017:
GBP 5,000,000).

- Total assets under management increased by 1.7% to GBP
14,90bn (2017: GBP 14.64bn) including assets held with other
EFG companies.

Regulatory Capital

The Company's regulatory capital is Tier 1 capital comprising
share capital, retained earnings, qualifying Additional Tier |
subordinated loans and reserves less the book value of
intangibles, investment in subsidiaries and other regulatory
capital deductions. :

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory
capital and the ratios for the Company for the year ended 31
December. Capital figures quoted below are based upon the
Company's regulatory reporting submissions and differing
timings and treatments mean they will not necessarily
directly correspond to capital figures included elsewhere
within these financial statements: The Company undertook
interim profit verifications during 2018 in order to recognise
the capital benefits of dividends received at the earliest
opportunity.

Year ended  Year ended

31 Becemiber 31 December

2018 2017

GBE ‘000 GBP ‘000

Trer 1. capltal

‘ '"710 869,'”“
1,104,166 ...
19.10%

922,648
19.90%

_.Total Capltal Ratlo

During the past two years the Company complied with all
regulatory capital requirements to which it is subject.

The Company benefits from a surplus of capital resources
above the Pillar 1 regulatory capital requirement. The
Company is also required to hold additional capitat in the
form of a Bank specific add-on (Pillar 2a), which is part of its
Total Capital Requirement plus regulatory buffers.

The Company's Total Capital Requirement is 16.68% (2017;{;
15.6%).

Business environment, strategy and future outlook

The directors are satisfied that both the level of business
and the year end financial position were satisfactory.

Contingency plans are in place to enable the Company to
continue to service its EU clients in the event of a "no-deal”
Brexit on the basis of expert advice received from external
advisers, The majority of EU clients will continue to be
serviced by the Company on a cross-border basis, according
to applicable EU regulation. However, a minority of EU
clients would need to be transferred to a sister entity within
the EFGI Group. Measures to ensure adherence to EU
regulation include an extensive compliance training
programme and enhancement of the existing control
framework that specifically addresses the requirements of
cross-border activity for the Company's Client Relationship
Officers. Additionally, the Company is providing support
and information to EU staff members who may be impacted
in the event of a “no deal Brexit". At present, it does not
anticipate finding it difficult to attract or retain talent,

. A slowing global economy and heightened Brexit

uncertainties may impact the business environment over
the next 12 months. Prime London property, where many of
the Company's international clients invest, has been
negatively impacted by uncertainty created by the ongoing
Brexit negotiations. However, the Company provides
mortgage finance at conservative loan to value ratios and
current market levels, combined with relative GBP
weakness, may present an opportunity for its clients to

‘invest.

The Company operates in a highly regulated and
competitive market environment for private banking and
wealth management activities.

Accepting these facts the directors remain confident that
the Company’s successful client-focused approach will
deliver its growth plans and that the Company has sufficient
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable
future,

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

The Company monitors performance on a divisional basis.
Detailed analyses summarising financial performance are
reported on a regular basis to executive management and
to board meetings. The primary KPIs monitored include
interest margin, fees and commissions, trading income,
assets under management and the credit quality of the
assets, which enable the management to run the business
in line with the agreed strategy. Details of these measures
are set out in these financial statements - a more detaited
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analysis of the use of KPIs is discussed in the annual report
of the parent company, EFGI.

Employee Involvement

[N

The Company is committed to ensuring that employees
share in its success, Employees participate in pérformance-
based incentive schemes and have the opportunity to invest
in shares of £FG Internationat AG through an employee
Share Incentive Plan. They are kept informed of matters of
concern to them in a variety of ways including newsletters,
the intranet and management briefings. These
communications help achieve a common awareness among
employees of the financial conduct and economic factors
affecting the Company. Employees are also provided with.
opportunities to share their views and provide feedback on
matters that are important to them through, for example,
the employee survey, Town Halls and forums.

Disabled Employees

The Company is committed to being an equal opportunities
employer and opposes all forms of unlawful discrimination,.,
The Company is committed to providing equal employment
apportunity to all qualified persons, including disabled
persons. The Company will make every effort to enable any
employee who becomes disabled during employment to
continue their career with the Bank.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and execution of the
Company's strategy are subject to a number of risks. The
Risk Management policies and procedures established
within the board-approved Risk Management Framework
are consistent with the risk management practices of the
Company's parent company, EFGI, incorporated in
Switzerland, but ultimate responsibility for the risk strategy
and policy of the Company lies with the Company's board of
directors. Details of the risk management activities of EFGI
are set out in its Annual Report, available at
www.efginternational.com.

The Company has implemented the “Three Lines of
Defence” model as the primary means to demonstrate and
structure roles, responsibilities and accountabilities for
decision-making, risk management and control; this
achieves appropriate governance and oversight of risk
management and assurance regarding the effectiveness of
the risk management framework. Roles and responsibilities
are assigned across the three lines in order to coordinate
effectively and efficiently among businesses and functions
so that there are neither "gaps” in control, nor unnecessary
duplications of coverage.

the Directors

The responsibilities for risk management across the
Company are as follows:

The Board and its principal committees (the Board
Risk Committee and the Audit Committee) provide
governance and oversight. The Board Risk Committee,
under delegated authority from the Board of directors,
provides supervisory oversight over all risks. The Audit
Committee oversees and assesses the effectiveness
and adeqguacy of the key elements of the control
environment and internal control systems, and the
internal and external audit processes.

Management rests with the Executive Committees
(including the Management Committee, as well as the
three principal executive risk committees - the
Operational & Regulatory Risk Committee, the Credit
Committee and the Asset & Liability Committee

The Business Units, Support and Control Functions
own the risk incurred in their activities, including
regulatory and compliance related risks:

Each layer is aligned to a Line of Defencex

The management of the business and execution of the
Company's strategy are subject to a number of risks
spanning operational and regulatory risk (including .
reputational, conduct, compliance and legal risks) as well as
liquidity, market and credit risk.

The Operational & Regulatory Risk Committee (“ORRC") has
prime responsibility for the management of operational and
regulatory risk- Operational risk is defined as the risk of
direct or indirect losses resutting from the inadequacy or
failure of internal processes, people and/or systems or
from external events. It includes compliance and legal risks,
regulatory sanctions and agreements. The ORRC manages
these risks through a'variety of means, including the overall
system of internal control, policies and procedures, training
and insurance and business continuity arrangements.
Significant compliance and legal resources are employed to
help ensure the Company complies fully with legal and
regulatory requirements and a dedicated Conduct Risk
Committee has additionally been established under the
ORRC.

Day-to-day management of market and liquidity risks is
carried out by Treasury, under the oversight of the Asset &
Liability Committee. The maturity profile and distribution of
assets and liabilities are managed actively, with particutar
focus being given to short-dated maturities. Liquidity
management also involves control over asset maturities and
the volume and quality of holdings of cash and high quality
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liquid assets that can be realised at short notice in order to
generate additional liquidity. In addition, in evaluating the
Company's liquidity position, account is taken of undrawn
lending commitments, the usage of overdraft facilities,
funding arrangements with fellow EFG subsidiaries, the
stability of retail deposits and the possible impact of
outstanding contingent liabilities and commitments.

Issuer, currency and interest rate trading positions are
taken by Treasury using both cash and derivatives contracts,
including forwards, futures and options. Limits are set by
product, currency, open position and stop loss limits.
Derivatives contracts are also used to facilitate client
transactions, to match or eliminate risk arising from market
rate movements on trading and non-trading positions and
to trade in expectation of profit. Derivatives contracts on
interest rates and exchange rates are entered into using
forward exchange contracts, forward rate agreements,
futures, interest rate swaps and options. Risk positions are
monitored daily, including independent daily mark-to-
market valuations of all market risk positions and
monitoring comptiance with approved market risk limits.
Position, gap and stop loss timits are applied and regular
sensitivity analyses are carried out to ensure market risks
are controlled and understood.

The Credit Committee has responsibility for atl aspects of
client credit activity, including approval of credit extensions
and arrears management, as well as oversight of the credit
portfolio approving recovery strategies and setting
counterparty exposure, country and sector limits.

Further details of the Company's financial risk management
activities are set out in Note 5 to 11 to the financial
statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 10th April 2019 and
signed on its behalf by:

J Reed
Chairman
10th Aprit 2019
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of EFG
Private Bank Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
‘Opinion T T ST T
In our opinion, EFG Private Bank Limited’s financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its profit and cash
flows for the year then ended;

o have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
» adopted by the European Union; and

s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual report and financial statements (the “Annual Report”),
which comprise: the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018; the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income,
the cash flow statement, the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements,
which include a description of the significant accounting policies. -

Our oplmon is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion .

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial -
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit e\ndence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence '

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not
provided to the company.

Other than those disclosed in note 54 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in
the penod from1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Our audit approach
Overview R .

.
.

¢  Overall materiality: £1,434,5oo (2017: £855;000), based on 1% of Net Assets.

.

¢, The company comprises one legal entity in the UK, which has banking, stockbroking,
wealth management and investment adwsory services which have global linkages
with other group entities.

®  Credit impairment provisions.
e  Provisions and contingent Liabilities.

Annual ReportZOlB } 10



list of all risks identified by our audit.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

0

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to breaches of the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority, and
we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the
Companies Act 2006. . .

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including
the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries
to increase revenue or reduce expenditure management bias in accounting estimates, the valuation of investments, and
tratisactions that are not in the ordinary.¢6urse of business. The engagement team shared this risk assessment with auditors
outside the engagement team so that they’ could include appropriate audit procedures in responseto such risks il their w cork,
Audit procedures performed by the engagement team and/or other auditors included:

e  Discussions with management and those charged with governance in relation to known or suspected instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

. Reviewing key correspondences with the regulators;

¢  Identifying and testing journal entries. .

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become
aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professmnal judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether
or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete

-
L we - - . A

_management, in estimating impairment provisions for stage

" Key gud}'g matter o " How our audit addressed the key audit rnatté_r:
Credit impairmenf provisions ~ Ouraudit procedures included:
Refer to: Note 2; Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, e  Understanding and testing the key controls around the
page 25. Note 3; Accounting Policies, page 31 & 32. Note 6; identification of impaired loans and the review,
Credit Risk, page 46 - 51. Note 7; Credll Risk Exposure, challenge and approval of key judgements and
page 52. Note 8; Credit Risk gross exposures and loss assumptions;

allowance, page 53 — 58. Note 25; Financial assets at fair

value through Other Comprehensive Income, page 73. Testing controls on changes made to standing data;

e  Testing the annual loan review process, the compilation
. . L L and review of the credit watch list, approval of external
The identification and determination of credit impairment collateral valuation vendors and approval of significant
provisions is inherently judgemental. The adoption of IFRS 9 individual impairments by the Credit Committee;

from 1 January 2018 has increased the number of
management judgements and involves increased use of
forward looking assumptions. This increases the estimation
uncertainty.

We consider the principal assumptions applied by

e Testing a sample of individually assessed loans to
ensure the provision is reasonable, including testing the
right to any collateral, the valuation of the collateral
and any forecast cash flows; and

»  Testing a sample of loans from the remaining ‘good

3 loans to be a key area of judgement. Areas of estimation book’ to confirm completeness of the watch list.

uncertainty include the valuation of collateral, forecast cash
flows and reasonableness of the probability weighting of .
expected likely outcomes. o o . ‘ ) 4 ‘ ) —
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" Key audit matter T How our audxt addressed the key audit matter

Provisions and contingent Liabilities Our audit procedures included:
Refer to: Note 3; Accounting Policies; page 34. Note 4; e  Understanding the key controls around the
Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying calculation, review and approval of provisions.
accounting po_licics, page 35. Note 20, Income Tax, page 68. e Reviewing correspondence with HMRC and
Note 39; Provisions, page 83. external advisors,
§ e  Reviewing management’s assessment and the

In the ordinary course of business potential claun_s may arise assumptions madeé in estimating the provision. We:
from legal, tax or employment related matters among others. assessed the reasonableness of the assumptnons in
Some of these may require provisions to be estimated by conjunction with tax specialists and given the
management \Vhere t-here 1sa pl‘esent Ob]lgdtlon aS aresult of CStIn]athﬂ uncertamty we perfornled a sens]tlwty
paSt events, itis pmbable that an O“tﬂo“' of econonllc analys|s to wns‘der other poss‘ble outcomes and
benéfits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable assessed the impact on the financial statements.
.estimate:of the amount can be made. \

. e We evaluated the disclosures made in the financial

- The current tax charge reported in the income statement statements against the requirements of IAS 37

includes amounts provided for in relation to ongoing HMRC Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
enquiries and included within other provisions are associated Assets and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
amounts. Statements. .
The HMRC: provision included in the current tax charge Based on thie pro¢edures performed and the evidence
reported-in the income statement-and the associated amounts obtained we found management’s assumptions and

included within other provisions involve management disclosure in the financial statements to be reasonable.
judgement and there are inherent uncertainties involved .
meaning the provision and the final outcome may be different

to current estimates. As a result the HMRC provision

represented a 'key audit matter.

war

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates B v

Our overall approach to settmg our audit scope was to focus our audit in areas where we identified a higher risk of material
misstatement to the financial statements, including areas where the directors made subjective judgements; for example,
significant accounting estimates involving assumptions and inherently uncertain future events.

To conduct this risk assessment, we considered the inherent risks facing the Company, including those arising from its
respective business operations, and how.the Company manages these risks. We also considered a number of other factors
including the design and implementation of the Company's control environment relevant to the audit, the appropriateness of
the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements and the risk of management
override of controls.

_ A number of key processes and controls, including those relating to information systems, are centralised at Switzerland. We
relied on various key controls tested by PwC Switzerland for local statutory audit purposes.

We performed audit work for all financial statement line items with a balance above our performance materiality of
£1,075,800. For each i in-scope line item, we performed audit procedures to bring the untested balance below performance
materiality. .

Materiality . .

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
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ow we determmed 1t % of Net Assets

‘| Rationale for benchmark’ ""‘"“The pnmary users of the financial statéments are the parent company and the regulators g

A b

apphed . who are principally focused on the regulatory capital of the Company. . ’ i
- Net assets was chosen as the materiality benchmark as it closely correeponds to v ‘ "

regulatory capital. .
H

This represents a change in approach compared to the prior year but is deemed to be the :|:
most appropriate measure considering the stakeholders in the company and the users of’
the financial statements. e

'

o — L NTRRT ey ey - A TR T I -....-.w._.._'- LT e

We agreed thh the Audit Committee that we would report to them m misstatements 1dent1ﬁed durmg our audlt t above £79,000
(2017: £43,ooo) as well as misstatements below that amount that 1n our v1ew, warranted reportmg for quahtanve reasons

P e i S

LY 5 T e L T T e g

g —— ¢ At 9 ¢ L TAMMITAS S ST Tl G m s SR e A e

‘Conclusions relating to going concern

ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:

«+ o the dn:ectors use of the going concern basis of accountmg in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or . .

¢ thedirectors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authgrised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. t

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the company’s
‘ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which the United Kingdom may withdraw from the

European Union are not clear, and it is difficuit to evaluate all of the potential implications on the company’s trade

customcrs, supphers and the w1der economy . ) —_ -

o
- T v e e S o "

- D s o

[ vE———————r B e e —— [P R —— T A [T e e

Reporting on other information™ 7~~~ =~ ~° T
z~The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our

auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our oplmon on the financial statements

does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise

1

explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. .
]

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the aundit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures’to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial-
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that ,

there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report )
based on these responsibilities. .

With respect to the Strategic Report and Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the . ~ '
UK Companies Act 2006 have been mcluded ;

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also
to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

-

Strateglc Report and Report of the Dlrectors : R -

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Report of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been

N —

prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. . :

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did
not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Report of the Directors. x

2. Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilitfes of the directors for the financial statements . 1

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements set out on page 4,
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and
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for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error. .

In preparing the finandgial stateérnenits, the directors are- wsponsﬂ;le for.2 assessmg the company’s at f.nty to‘continue’asia going
concern, disclosing as apphcable, fhattets:related to going ¢oncern and using the going concern 1_s of: accountmg unless the
dlrectors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operanons, or have no réalistic alternative but'to do'so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

_ Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the ﬁnancnal statements is located on the FRC'’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other reqmred reportlng

Compames Act 2006 exceptlon reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are fequired to report to you if,.in our opinion:

¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
e the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility,

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors-on 31 August 1989 to audit the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 1989 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total
uninterrupted engagement is 30 years, covering the years ended 31 December 1989 to 31 December 2018.

Lawrence Wilkinson (Senior Statutory Auditor).

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP .
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors .
London R

10 April 2019
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Income statement for the vear ended
31 December 2018

Year eaded Year ended
31 Deszmhber 2018 31 December 2017
‘Note GBP 060 GBP ‘000

63758
(25 739)
.38, 019

Net mterest mcome p——

e w < e T, S S TS ST e

Banhnc fee and comrmssnon mcome

“Gains less losses on dnsposal Of Financial aceats 3t far value through other
comprohenswe mcome

LTINS ey pas e 0

Net ‘other i |ncome M

Operatingincome . _ .

Operating expenses e B a e arett o
Loss on.assets.held.for. sale o
Reversal of loss allowance on fmanaal assets at amortised cost and debt

mslruments measured at fa|r va(ue throuuh othcr comprehenqlve income. ...
Prof‘ t before tax,

Jncorne tax (chargg_)w/mcredlt — _ )

Net profit forthevear .. ... . . . 35,553 . 9.713.

Net profit for the year attributable to:

Netprofit attributable to.owners of the parent U 11 NN 1 K
FAAEI EOSOORIG b e ST -:,\.,.v AN edd .: CoRmn “—.‘V s 35 553 o ‘_9 713

The notes on pages 23 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of comprehensive mcome for the year ended 3
December 2018

Year endedt Year ended
21 December 2008 31 December 2017
Note GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Net proﬁtfor the  year . e e e 35,953 e 9,713,
Other comprehensive income / (loss)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Net (losses) on investments in debt instruments measured at fair value through
Other(_omprehensuve Income, ("FVTOCI") BT A £ A o o A2 $10.752)

GLTA3 e 13937

ez o 23) s

“(24) ~
o “(519)
Other comprehenswe |ncome for the year,, net of tax . ) ) 0335
Total comprehenswe mcome for the year ) . T 35888 . .
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
"Owners of the pareft: s e St _s s 808

it ..35,888

TR e T et

PRENIE T e o

The notes ori pages 23 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance sheet at 31 December 2018

31 December 20118

31 December 2017

Note GRP 00D GBP '000

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks L . 21 . 242,322 _ 388,847
Due from other banks . » i 23 88,516 90,495
Derivative financial instruments T T 14105 9629
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 25 1012721 -
Financial assets: o o ' o .

_Available-for-sale » . 617,977
Loans and advancés_tb customers 26 1,663,380 1,581,428
investment in subsidiary ' 20,000 10,000
Property, plant and equipment 28 T o49h 2,267
Intangible assets 29 1,803 . 432
Deferred.income tax assets 30 3,457 3,290
Other assets . . 31 34,438 26,216
Total assets 3,073,236 2,728,583
Liabilities
Due to other banks 36 553,870 539,624
Due 10 customers 37 2,244,736 1,928,747,
Derivative financial instruments .24 8,153 v .. - - 13,603
Current income tax liabilities , 1,935 <
PIOVISIONS 39 - 2,124 1,054
Other liabilities 41 35,590 44,290
Subordinated loans 42 66,912 66,910
Total liabilities 2,913,320 2,594,228
Equity
Share capital 43 . 1,596 1,596
Share premium 44 96,639 96,639
Capital redemption reserve i ) 10,000 10,000
Other reserves 45 13,402 9,166
Retained earnings 46 38279 16,954
Total equity 159,916 134,355
Total equity and liabilities 3,073,236 2,728,583

The financial statements on pages 10 to 87 were approved by the Board of directors on 10th April 2019 and signed on its

behalf by:

Reed (Chairman)

EFG Private Bank Limited - Registered No: 2321802

W, Cic

A Cooke-Yarbofough (director)

The notes on pages 23 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31

December 2018

GBP'000

At1January2017 . . . . ...

s Atlributable to owners of the parent .. .

Capital
Redemption Other
reserves Reserves

10,000 31'1%1;39:: N

Retained
earnings Total equity

o (261) 119,404

OB 9713

Net profitforthevear ... .. .. ..

Available-for-sale
securities - net changes
infairvalue netoftax ... _

‘Cashflow hedges.net of tax..

Total Comprehensnve
Income for the year

Dividend. paxd on ordmary shares e

- 1,749
- 382,
% 2,131

Emploype stack optlon
Plans amortisation .. ... e

AT1 interest treated as
appropriation of retained

L eopiaan

TV e

earnmgs e A
Opening Balance stock
option transfer IFRS2

% 1.669 -

9, 713 11,844
s 3388
(281) (281)
(1 669) .

Transfer to retained earmngs on lapse of o -

employee equity

e n eyt "

[(9,452)

9,452 o

10,000 . 9,166

16 954 1310,355

mcentlve plans ... s
,At 31 December 2017

The notes on pages 23 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of changes in-equity for the year ended 31
December 2018 continued

a2 Attributable to owners of the parent. ..

Capital
Share Share  Redemption Other Retained
GBP'000 capital”  premium reserves Reserves earnings Total equity

1596 96639 9166 . 16954 134355

At.1 January.2018 b0
) (269)

10,00
VChanges on initia

N

ication of IFRS 9

L TR LT

NN ISR UITRE

35,553 35,55

R A M R e TSP s at et R

Net.profit for the Year . - ... wicome s smamrn ae s 2tz

Net gains on investments in debt
instruments measured at FVTOCI

ranecttiepawat i LU A PR LA T

ORI Y/ : X

Fair value (losses) oh cash flow hedges e (24)
income tax r_elating to components of
Other comprehensive inCome. v coven o . (519)  (519)

Total Comprehensive

Income for the year . R = v 854, . .35034 ._...35888,

(8,000) (8,000).,

PR T RSy «: =
Dividend paid on ordinary shares

AT1 interest treated as appropriation of
[fetained earnings. ... ..
Employee equity incentive
plans amortization and net of exercise
costs
‘At31December 2018

The notes on pages 23 to 90 form an integrat part of these financial statements
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Cash flow statement for the year ended

31 December 2018

Year ended Year ended
Note 31 becember 2018 31 December 2017
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received ... v.coiccan- . 73995
Interest paid o .,; (37,335) .

Bankmg fee and commussnon recelved )

GBA8T. ..

s s (2,546).

Net tradmg mcome

g A e e o b et L 13 g

T73713

Other operating mcome recenved

Staff Costs -

" (60279)

Other’ operatnng expenses T

(26,062)

Income tax recelved

Cash flows from / (used in) operatmg activitios before changes ; - e

in operating assets and liabilities ... _ oo o . 16 (1,699):
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net increase [ (decrease) in due to / from other banks 13,864 (120 500)
"N’é’i"(‘i‘ﬁa‘ré'a‘ée)"/ ‘decrease in dérivative financial instruments ..{38768). . T 12 3%,
Net mcrease in loans and advances to customers e e SRR €10 K°]:1:) [

Ner (mcrease) in other assets.. e e .. . : *(13,792) »

.Net increase in due to customers T R 1 1‘37,128t
*Net (décrease) | increase in other liabilities 2689),... ...11,939,
j‘Né‘i'?&‘éH'ﬂéW's' from / (used in) 6perating activities R 192 814 o (104 114)

Cash flows from investing activities

T e, TR

Purchase of investment securities, . e e (513,380) (275 955)
_Proceeds from sale/. maturities of securmes ' 50823 471 911
Sale of available for Sale |nvestments - T ] (167 e s ,318
Purchase oflntang|ble Assets T - .. o (1502)i .A\.,..(A36)
Purchase of property, plant and equupment . _ ] (649)
\Dividend received . ... . __ ~33,000 7T 5000
Net cash ﬂows (used m) |nvest|ng actlvmes e "(333318) ] (2'04,'1‘8-9")_;
Cash flows used in financing activities
Dividend paid on ordinary shares e (8,000) __ s el
‘Net cash flows used in financing activities . - (8O00) e - - (106)]
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . _ . e e ¢ o Ak 2 P A e e e (1108,504) 198,267
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 479,342 381,075
Net change.in cash and cash equtvalents (148 504) 198267
Cash and cash equlvalents Tt T T _ 330,838 479,342

The notes on pages 23 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements
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28
29
30
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32
33
34
35
36
37
38
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40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55

General information

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Principal accounting policies

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
Financial risk assessment and management

Credit risk

Credit risk exposure

Credit risk ~ gross exposure and loss allowances

Market risk

Liquidity risk

Capital management

Net interest income

Net fee and commission income

Dividend income _

Net trading income and foreign exchange gains less losses

2 Gains less losses on disposal of financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

Operating expenses
Staff costs

.Loss allowance on financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments measured at FVOC|

Income tax

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash and cash equivalents

Due from other banks

Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
Loans and advances to customers

Loss allowances on loans and advances to customers
Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Other assets

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
Business combinations
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Due to other banks

Due to customers

Financial liabitities at amortised cost

Provisions

Contingent liabilities

Other liabilities

Subordinated loans

Share capital .

Share capital,share premium and capital redemption reserves
Other reserves i

Retained earnings

Dividends
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90
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1.  General information

EFG Private Bank Limited, incorporated and domiciled in
England and Wales, is active in private banking,
stockbroking, wealth management and investment advisory
services for private clients and their corporate interests. As
an integral part of these activities, the Company is active in
the money markets in both deposit taking and lending, it
engages in spot and forward foreign exchange business, as
well as undertaking transactions in securities, off-balance
sheet instruments and derivatives, primarily on behalf of
clients. The principal places of business are London,
Birmingham and Jersey. The Company is a member of the
London Stock Exchange.

The average monthly number of staff, including directors,
employed during the year was 387 (2017: 383).

The Company's immediate parent is EFG International AG, a
limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in
Switzerland.

w

These financial statements were approved by the Board of
Directors on 10th April 2019.

2. Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial instruments

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the financial statements are set out in note 3. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented. \

Adoption of IFRS 9 financial instruments

Effective 1January 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9
Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) and the related consequential
amendments to other IFRSs on their effective dates without
restatement of financial information presented in prior
periods as permitted by IFRS 9. Any adjustments to the
carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities as of 1
January 2018 were recognised in the opening retained
earnings and other reserves of the current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential
amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also been applied to
the current period. The comparative period notes disclosures
repeat those disclosures made in the prior year.

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabitities, impairment of financial assets and hedge:
accounting with principal features as follows:

Classification and measurement

IFRS 9 introduces three classifications for financial assets:

~ Amortised cost - Financial assets held within a business

model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect’

contractual cash flows and the contractual terms give rise

on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of

principal and interest on the amounts outstanding.

Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI).

Financial assets with terms that give rise to interest and

principal cash flows only and which are held in a business

model with the objective to collect their cash flows and

through sale. Also, certain equity investments may be

irrevocably designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

- Fair value through profit and toss (FVTPL) - All other
financial assets are measured at fair value through profit
and loss.

Total remeasurement losses of GBP 314,000 were recognised
in opening reserves at 1January 2018 which comprises:

- GBP 225,000 related to on balance sheet positions

- GBP 89,000 relating to off-balance sheet positions

In addition the following impacts were reflected;

~ An amount of GBP 45,000 was reclassified from retained
earnings to other reserves at 01 January 2018 in respect
of expected credit losses on Financial assets through
other comprehensive income

The following table summarises the category and the

carrying value of financial assets in accordance with |AS 39
and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (the transition date to IFRS 9):
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Original Measurement
Category Under IAS 39

Amortised Cost
Cash and balances with central Amortised cost

banks (loans and

bles) Amortised cost. ... . . . .

New

Measurement

New Carrying Value
under IFRS 9

Carrying Value
Under IAS 39

Category Under
IFRS 9

Remeasurements
Expected Credit
tosses

GBP'000

31 December
2017
GBP'000

1 January 2018
GBP'000

Reclassifications
GBP'000

388,847 - 388,847

F MY ¢y

Due from other banks T Amurtnsed cost

. (loans and:receivables) Amortised cost . ...onovoncs

M IR
90,495 ® 90,495

Loans and advances to Amortised cost

CTGs) T 1581249

1,581,4

CEUSLOMENS, o ..o s s S i st
Total financial assets measured ) 2,060,771 ) V - 2 060 591
at amortlsed cost N . = [ - e sisskg o em S
Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
{FVTPL) -

Derivative financial instruments  Fair value through profit FV1PL

and 10ss (held for
drading). .

o S e ALY T

6,217 & b 6,217

Denvatlve financial mstruments
and toss (hedging

ANt
Fair value through prof't RVTPL

. insttument)

s

Investment:écurmes ‘Avanlable for salc FVTRL B -
Lapé'ﬁ}n‘g' balance under 14539 T e

o o

Ay e g S Ya oo em hA v g emaw s nir gy

- Reclass:f‘cauon debt securities Available for sate

R T LTI AT T S0 e

T L

ey

- Closmg balance under IFRS

R e T A T B e T Y B TP T S0 00

IR Ch Rt A

Total financial assets measured

T eaz607  (617,977)

at FVTPL . - I e
Fair Value Through Other

Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

Investment secuntles IO oo e Lot b e .
- Openlng balance under 1AS 39 .

- Reclassification - Available for sale

o s (TR

AT AL, L L

FVOCI ) 617,932

- Closnng balance under IFRS 9

Tes) T 617,932

Total Fair Value Through Other )
Comprehensuve Im:ome (FVOCI) . S
,Totalﬂnancnalassets 2,688,378 = (229)) 2,688,153
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Credit impairment

IFRS 9 introduces new credit impairment requirements
which apply to debt instruments measured at amortised
cost, assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, loan commitments and financial
guarantees. This introduces the concept of ‘expected credit
losses’ (ECL), whilst previously impairment was on an
incurred loss model.

Upon initial recognition of an asset, ECL resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months,
defined as Stage 1, are recognised. Where a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition has been
identified, the loss allowance increases to recognise all
expected default events over the life of the asset, being
Stage 2. Stage 3 reflects instruments which are considered
as credit-impaired, and a loss allowance is created on a
lifetime basis.

Expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers
The Company has recognised GBP 314,000 of additional
expected credit losses on 1)anuary 2018. These arise
primarily from the following:

- Mortgage lending GBP 118,000 '

- Lombard and Other lending GBP 62,000

- Fair Value Assets through OCI GBP 45,000

- Loan commitments and financial guarantees GBP 89,000

Hedge accounting

The new hedge accounting requirements have been
designed to improve the decision usefulness of the
financial statements by better aligning hedge accounting
with the risk management activities of the Company
permitting a greater variety of hedging instruments and
simplifying certain rule-based requirements from the
previous standard. IFRS 9 provides an accounting policy
choice: entities can either continue to apply hedge
accounting requirements of IAS 39 (until the standard is
fully updated), or they can apply IFRS 9, which is required to
be applied for all hedges.

The Company adopted the hedge accounting requirements
of IFRS 9, and such change allowed the Company to
consider a wider range of hedging options, with the ability
to continue with the existing hedging relationships. In
particular, the new standard removed the prescribed range
for hedge effectiveness purposes to atlow greater flexibility
for an entity to apply hedge accounting. No financial assets
or liabilities have been reclassified or revalued as a result
of this change. :

Financial liabilities

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the classification of financial
liabilities remained unchanged for the Company. Financial
liabilities continue to be measured at either amortised cost
or Fair Value through Profit and Loss.
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Recanciliation of impairment / loss allowances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The following table reconciles the credit loss allowance upon adoption of IFRS 9 on 1January 2018:

Loan loss allowance
under 1AS 39/Provision

Measurement category Reclassification Remeasurement _ECL under IFRS 9
31December 17 1january 18
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

Loans and re_céivables (1A 59)/
Financial assets at amortised cost
{IFRS 9)

Cash and balances with central banks

Available for sale financial
instruments (IAS 39)/Financial assets
at FV TOCI (iFRS 9)

JAnvestment securities.... e = SO - NN -

Loan commitments and financial
guaranteed contracts
Loan commitments and financial

2426

The notes to the Company's 2017 Financial Statements included estimates of the likely impact of ECL provisions on
adoption on Ist January 2018. The difference between those estimates and the final remeasurement figure is due to
payments received subsequent to the year end which reduced the ECL.
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3. Principal accounting policies

The principat accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to alt the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are for the year ended 31 December
2018. These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with those International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting
Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS Interpretations
Committee) interpretations issued and effective, for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and with those parts of the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS. The Directors have confirmed that it appropriate to use
the going concern assumption as a basis for presenting these
financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. The process also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the group's accounting policies.

Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results
ultimately may differ from those estimates. Further
information about critical estimates and judgements are
presented in note 4.

The Company's presentation currency is Great British Pound
(GBP) being the functional currency of the Company.

New and amended standards adopted by the Company:
The Company has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2018:
e IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
e |IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
e C(Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions - Amendments to IFRS 2
s Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

However, had the amendments to IFRS 2 not been adopted
in the current period, there would have been a small
increase in the share-based payment expense and an
associated reduction in tax expense, Future profits could
also be affected through the requirement to remeasure the
proportion of the share-based payment that would have
had to be accounted for as cash-settled under the old rules.

New and amended standards not yet adopted:

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
heen published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2018 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by
the Company. The Company's assessment of the impact of
these new standards and interpretations is set out helow.

IFRS 16 Leases - {FRS 16 comes into force on 1 )anuary 2019.
It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the
balance sheet by lessees, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only
exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The Company has reviewed all of its leasing arrangements
over the last year in light of [FRS 16. The standard will affect
primarily the accounting for the Company's operating
leases.

As at the reporting date, the Company has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of GBP 14,473,000. On 1
january 2019, the Company expects to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately GBP 13,726,000
(after adjustments for prepayments and accrued lease
payments recognised as at 31 December 2018).

The Company expects that net profit after tax will decrease
by approximately GBP 127,000 for 2019 as a result of
adopting the new rules.

Operating cash flows will increase and financing cash flows
decrease by approximately GBP 3,127,000 as repayment of
the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be classified
as cash flows from financing activities.

The Company has no activities as a lessor,
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The Company will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Company intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adaption.
Right-of-use assets for property leases will be measured on
transition as if the new rules had always been applied. All
other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or
accrued lease expenses).

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and
that would be expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

{b) Consolidation
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
afforded by Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 in not
preparing consolidated financial statements. The Company
is a wholly owned subsidiary of EFG International AG
(Bleicherweg 8 P.0. Box 6012 - CH-8022 Zurich), which is a

< limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in
Switzerland, which prepares consolidated financial
statements to 31 December each year in accordance with
international Financial Reporting Standards, IFRIC
interpretations and compliant with the provisions of the EU
Seventh Directive.

A listing of the Company’s main subsidiaries is set out in
note 35.

(c) Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
have been transiated into the functional currency at the

market rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
and exchange differences are accounted for in the Income
Statement,

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement, except
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary iterns are included in the fair value
reserve in equity.

The presentation and functional currency of the Company is
Sterling (GBP).

Year-end exchange rates and average exchange rates for
the main currencies are as follows:

20118 2018: 2017 2017
Closing Awstage.  Closing Average
rate rate rate rate
L1280 1331 a3s) 1907
1259 1299 1319 1268
08% 0886 0887 0876
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(d) Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in
the balance sheet at fair value on the date on which the
derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from
guoted market prices, including recent market transactions,
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as
appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair
value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is
negative.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial
recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the
consideration given or received) unless the fair value of that
instrument is derived from its comparison with other
observable current market transactions in the same
instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging), or
based on a valuation technique whose variables include
only data from observable markets.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financiat
instruments, such as the option in a structured product, are
treated as separate derivatives when their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of
the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair
value through profit and loss. These embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the Income Statement, unless the Company
chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value
through profit and loss. The method of recognising the
resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument; and if so,
the nature of the item being hedged. The Company
designates certain derivatives as either:
- Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities
or unrecognised firm commitments (fair value hedge)
- Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable
to a recognised asset or liability, or a forecasted
transaction (cash flow hedge)

Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated as
such, provided certain criteria are met. The Company
documents, at the inception of the transaction, the
relationship between hedged items and hedging
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, as well as upon a
significant change in the circumstances affecting the hedge
effectiveness requirements, of whether a hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements.

The Company will discontinue hedge accounting in the

following scenarios:

- When the Company determines that a hedging
relationship no longer meets the risk management
objective

- When the hedging instrument expires or sold or
terminated

- When there is no longer an economic relationship
hetween the hedge item and the hedging instrument or
the effect of credit risk starts to dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship

Hedge ineffectiveness represents the amount by which:

- The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
differ from changes in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk

- The changes in the present value of future cash flows of
the hedging instrument exceed changes (or expected
changes) in the present value of future cash flows of the
hedged item

Such ineffectiveness is recorded in current period earnings
in net gain/(loss) from financial instruments measured at
fair value. Interest income and expense on derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in effective hedge
relationships is included in net interest income.

The below summarises the different treatment of
derivatives (whether or not hedge accounting applied):

(i) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Income
Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of
the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of
a hedged item, for which the effective interest method is
used, is amortised to the Income Statement over the period
to maturity.

(i) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in Other Comprehensive Income. The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the Income Statement. Amounts
accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income are recycled
to the Income Statement in the periods in which the hedged
item will affect profit or loss (for example, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged takes place).
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When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income
Statement. When a farecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was
reported in equity is immediately transferred to the
Income Statement.

(iii) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income Statement. The fair
values of derivative instruments held for trading and
hedging purposes are disclosed in note 29.;

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount presented in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settte the liability simultaneously. Such a right
of set-off must not be contingent on a future event and
must be legally enforceable in all of the following
circumstances:

- In the normal course of business

- The event of default

- The event of insolvency or bankruptcy

() Revenue

(i} Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the Income
Statement for all interest-hearing instruments on an accrual
basis, using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financiat asset or
financial liability. When calculating the effective interest
rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but does not
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all
amounts paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs, and any other premiums or discounts.
Negative interest on assets is recorded as an interest
expense, and negative interest on liabilities is recorded as
interest income.

For financial assets at amortised cost or debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income in stage
3, the original effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost of the asset rather than to the gross
carrying amount.

Negative interest recorded on euro balances taken from
customers is presented within interest income and on
placements to other institutions presented within interest
iexpense.

(i) Banking fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an
accrual basis. Fees and commissions relating to foreign
exchange transactions, bank charges, brokerage activities
and portfolio management are recognised, as applicable, on
either a time-apportioned basis, at the transaction date or
on completion of the underlying transaction.

Fees and commission arising from negotiating a transaction
for a third party - such as the arrangement of the
acquisition of shares or other securities, are recognised on
completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and
other management advisory and service fees are recognised
based on the applicable contracts, usually on a time-
apportioned basis. Asset management fees related to
investment funds are recognised over the period in which
the service is provided. The same principle is applied for
wealth management, financial planning and custody
services that are continuously provided over an extended
period of time. Performance related fees or fee components
are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled
and the fee can be reliably measured.

(iii) Dividend income

Dividend income represents gross dividends from
ihvestments (principally in subsidiary companies) and is
recognised when the Company's right to receive payment is
established.

(iv) Trading income

Net trading income comprises results from foreign exchange
transactions and revaluation of assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies, including the mark to
market of interest rate swaps and currency forwards and
swaps; plus any gain or loss from financial instruments
measured at fair value.
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(g) Property, plant and equipment

Properly, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Property, plant and equipment are periodically
reviewed for impairment, with any impairment charge being
recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to

write down the cost of property, plant and equipment, to

their residual values over their estimated useful life as

follows:

- Buildings and Leasehold improvements over the
remaining life of the lease (maximum 15 years)

- Computer hardware: 3-4 years

~ Furniture and equipment: 4-10 years

~ Antiques and Artwork: 50 years

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in other
operating expenses in the Income Statement.

(h) Intangible assets
(i} This includes the following categories: Other intangible
assets - Computer software
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. It is periodically
reviewed for impairment, with any impairment charge being
recognised in the Income Statement. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over a 3 to 4 year
basis. The acquisition cost of software capitalised is on
the basis of the cost to acquire and bring into use the
specific software.

av

(i) Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets are recorded on the day the transaction
is undertaken. Purchases and sales of financial assets at
fair value or amortised cost are recognised on the date on
which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and advances to customers are recognised when
cash is advanced to the borrowers.

Measurement methods:

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the value at which the financial asset
or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus
the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial value and the maturity value
and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the

expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to
the gross carrying value of a financial asset or to the
amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does
not consider expected credit losses and includes
transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees paid or
received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such
as origination fees. For credit-impaired financial assets the
Company calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest
rate, which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the
financial asset instead of its gross carrying value and
incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in
estimated future cash flows.

When the Company revises the estimates of future cash
flows, the carrying value of the respective financial asset or
financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimated
discount using the original effective interest rate. Any
changes are recognised in profit or loss.,

Initial recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial
asset or financial liability at its fair value. In case of a
financial asset or financial liability subsequently not
measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial
liability, such as fees and commissions are included to the
fair value at initial recognition. Transaction costs of
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed as incurred.

Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL is recognised
for financial assets measured at amortised cost and
investments in debt instruments measured at FVTOCI, which
results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or
loss when an asset is newly originated.

Business models: The business model reflects how the
Company manages the assets in order to generate cash
flows. That is, whether the Company’s objective is solely to
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to
collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows
arising from the sale of assets. (f neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as ‘other’
business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered
by the Company in determining the business model for a
group of assets include past experience an how the cash
flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's
performance is evaluated and reported to key management
personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how
management are compensated.
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SPPI: Where the business modet is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows
and sell, the Company assesses whether the financial
instrument's cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest (the 'SPPI test’). in making this
assessment, the Company considers whether the
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration for
the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic
lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent
with a basic lending arrangement, based on qualitative or
quantitative criteria, the related financial asset is classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
and that are not designated at fair vatue through profit or
loss, are measured at fair value through Other
Comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive income, except for
loss allowances, interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and tosses on the instruments amortised cost, which
are recognized in profit and loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Net
gains/losses on derecognition of financial assets and
liabilities'. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest
rate method.

Equity instruments that meet the definition of equity from
the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments that do not
contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a
residual interest in the issuer’s net assets, Examples of
equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Company subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value through profit and toss, except
where the Companies management has elected at initial
recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income. The
Companies policy is to designate equity investments in
FVTOCI when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election is
used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not subsequently
reclassified to profit and loss, including on disposal.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are
not reported separately from other changes in fair value:
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments,
continue to be recognised in profit and loss as other
income when the Company's right to receive payment is
established:

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVTOC) are measured at fair vatue through profit or loss.
Other movements in the fair value (for example from
interest rate or credit risk changes) and are not part of a
hedging relationship, are presented in the income
statement within ‘Fair value gains less losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value’ in the period in which
they arise.

Gains and losses on equity investments at fair value
through profit and loss are included in “Fair value gains less
losses on financial instruments measured as fair value).

Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL

associated with debt instrument assets carried at amortised

cost and FVTOC! and with the exposure arising from toan

commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The

Company recognises a loss allowance for such losses at

each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted value that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes

- The time value of money

- Reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions

Further detail is provided in note 7.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities, financial guarantees contracts and loan
commitments

in both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are

classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost,

except for:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this
classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities
held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading
booking). Gains or losses on financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are
presented partially in other comprehensive income (the
value of change in the fair value of the financiat liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability, which is determined as the value that is not
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attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise
to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining
value of change in the fair value of the liability). This is
unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an
accounting mismatch in which case the gains and losses
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability
are also presented in profit or loss

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments:
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at
fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of the
expected credit loss value; and the premium received on
initial recognition less income recognised in accordance
with the principles of IAS 18. Loan commitments provided
by the Company are measured as the value of the
expected loss allowance. For loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is
recognised as a provision. If the contract includes both a
loan and an undrawn commitment and the expected
credit loss on the undrawn commitment cannot be
separated from the loan component, the expected credit
loss on the undrawn commitment is recognised together
with the loss allowance for the loan. If the combined -
expected credit loss exceeds the carrying amount of the
loan, the excess is recognised as a provision

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset, or a portion thereof, is derecognised when
the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired, or when they have been transferred and
either (i) the Company transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Company neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and the Company has not retained control. in
case of modification of loans when the Company
renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash
flows of a loan, it assesses whether or not the new terms
are substantially different from the original terms,
considering a range of factors that include reduction in cash
flows when the borrower is expected to be able to pay, new
substantial terms are introduced, extension of the loan
term, changes in interest rate and currency or insertion of
collaterals or credit enhancement facilities. If terms are
substantially different after the modification, the Company
derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a
new asset at fair value, recalculating a new effective interest
rate for the asset. if the terms of the modified asset are not
substantially different, the asset is not derecognised, but
the Company revises the new cash flows, resulting in a
modification gain or l0ssx

A financial liability is derecognised when extinguished (i.e.
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,

cancelled or expires)..In case of modification of terms of
financial liabilities, the Company extinguishes the current
liability and recognises a new liability only if the
modification is considered a substantial modification of the
terms (i.e. if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received and discounting using the ariginal effective
interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability). Any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment if the
madification is accounted for as an extinguishment.
Otherwise, costs and fees incurred adjust the carrying
amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.

(j) Debt securities in issue and other financial liabilities
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their
issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds
net of transaction costs and the redemption value is
recognised in the Income Statement over the life of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

(k) Leases A

The leases entered into by the Company are operating
leases. The total payments made under operating leases are
charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the life of the lease.

(1) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax is measured
using substantively enacted rates which are expected to
apply when the temporary difference reverses. The principal
temporary differences arise from goodwill impairment,
property, plant and equipment depreciation, stock options,
and revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities,
including derivative instruments.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that they will be recovered in the future.
Deferred tax relating to changes in fair values of financial
assets classified as Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income, which are taken directly to the Statement of Other
Comprehensive income, is charged or credited directly to
Other Comprehensive Income and is subsequently
recognised in the Income Statement together with the
deferred gain.or loss.
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Income tax payable on profits, based on the enacted or
substantively enacted tax law where relevant, is recognised
as an expense in the period in which profits arise. The tax
effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are
recognised as an asset when it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which these losses
can be utilised. The Company recognises interest on late
paid taxes plus any penalties, if applicable, as part of
operating expenses or provisions in the Income Statement,
depending on circumstances. .

{m) Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit obligations

The Company operates defined contribution plans for
employees. The Company pays contributions to privately
administered pension plans and has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due.

(i) Short-term employee benefits

The Company recognises short-term compensated
absences, being the value of annual leave not taken at the
year end date, and approved bonuses as a liability and an
expense.

(iii) Deferred variable compensation

Certain employees are entitled to participate in a cash or
equity-settled, share-based variable compensation plan
with options granted over the shares in EFG International.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options or restricted stock
units is recognised as an expense over the vesting period

for options or restricted stock units granted under the plan.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options,
restricted stock units or the cash granted , excluding the
impact of any non-market-vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and revenue growth targets). Non-market-
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of aptions and restricted stock units that are
expected to become exercisable: The expense recognised
during each period is the pro-rata amount of the fair value
of options expected to become exercisable plus the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, which is
recognised in the Income Statement, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to equity when the options
are exercised.

(n) Related party transactions

Related parties include associates, fellow subsidiaries,
directors, their close families, companies owned or
controlled by them and companies whose financial and
operating policies they can influence. Transactions of
similar nature are.disclosed on an aggregate basis.

(o) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

- The Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events

- It is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation

- Reliable estimates of the amount of the obligation can
be made

- A dilapidations provision is recognised when there is
future obligation relating to the maintenance of teasehold
properties. The provision is based on management's best
estimate of the obligation which forms part of the
Company's unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations
under the lease contracts.

(p) Share capital and share premium
Both share capital and share premium are classified as
equity.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the
period in which they are approved by the Company's
shareholders.

(q) Fiduciary activities

Where the Company acts in a fiduciary capacity, such as
nominee, trustee or agent, assets and income arising on
fiduciary activities, together with related undertakings to
return such assets to customers, are excluded from the
financial statements. The Company holds money on behalf
of some clients in accordance with the Client Money Rules
of the Financial Conduct Authority. As the Company is not
the entitled beneficiary, such monies and the corresponding
liability to clients are not shown on the Balance Sheet. See
note 49.

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, short-term deposits and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less, and bank drafts.
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in
applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies, the Company's management makes various
judgements, estimates and assumptions that may affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the
financial statements in future periods. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances,

(a) Expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income is an area that
requires the use of complex models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions and credit
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and
the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions
and estimation techniques used in measuring the expected
credit losses are further detailed in note 6, which also sets
out the key sensitivities of the expected credit losses to
changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in

applying the accounting requirements for measuring the

expected credit losses, such as:

- Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit
risk

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the
measurement of expected credit losses

- Establishing the number and relative weightings of
forward-looking scenarios for each type of product and
the associated expected credit losses

- Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the
purposes of measuring the expected credit losses

(b) Income taxes and deferred tax

Significant estimates are required to determine the current
and deferred tax assets and liabilities. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. This will include judgement of the amount of tax
payable on open tax computations where the liabilities
remain to be agreed with HMRC, including where subject to
formal HMRC enquiries. Due to the uncertainty associated
with such tax items it is possible that at a future date, on
conclusion of any open tax matters, the final outcome may
vary significantly.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry-forward of
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. To the extent that it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
unused tax losses can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is
not recognised.

{c) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probabte that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably
estimated. The determination of whether an outflow is
probable and the armount, which are assessed by
Company's management in conjunction with the legal and
other advisors, requires the judgement of the Company's
management.

5. Financial risk assessment and management

The Company acknowledges that carrying out business in
the banking and financiat services industry entails risks, i.e.
that events may appear which impact the Company's ability
to deliver on its objectives. The Company believes that the
proper management of risks is critical for continued
success.

Risk management comprises the people, processes, and

systems designed to ensure that risks are appropriately

identified, measured, monitored and reported, as well as
mitigated on an ongoing basis.

Importance of risk management

For the Company, risk management is of crucial importance

in order to:

- Ensure it understands and controls its exposure to risk

- Ensure that risk exposures are in line with risk capacity
and defined risk appetite and strategy

- Help the Company successfully implement its corporate
strategy

- Protect clients from potential risks, such as unsuitable
products or excess concentrations

- Contribute to the orderly functioning and sound
reputation on the markets in which the Company operates

Approach to risk management

The Company has developed a multi-dimensional approach

to risk management:

- There are independent Risk Control and Campliance
functions with clearly defined objectives
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- There is a unique, comprehensive and prioritised list of
risk categories

- There is a defined risk strategy and risk appetite

- There is a coherent and comprehensive set of policies,
standards and procedures to govern risk management

- There is continuous, independent measurement and
assessment of risk exposures ’

- The effectiveness and efficiency of risk management is
supervised by the Board of Directors with the support
and advice of a dedicated Risk Committee

.

Purpose and objectives of the risk management

The objectives of risk management are to:

- Provide transparency on the risks the Company incurs

- Provide independent oversight and challenge that risks
are adequately mane;ged

- Enable better management of the risk-return trade-off

- Support the Board of Directors in defining an adequate
risk appetite and strategy and ensure the actual risk
profile remains in line with these

The role of risk culture in supporting effective risk
management

The Company believes the behavioural element is key to
ensure sound risk management, and that this is guided by
the risk culture of the organisation. Accordingly, risk culture
is viewed as a core component of effective

risk management.

To frame this topic, the Company approaches risk culture in

line with Financial Stability Board principles:

- Tone from the top: The Board of Directors, the Executive

Committee and senior management are the starting point

for setting the Company’s core values and

risk culture; their behaviour reflects the risk culture that is

expected throughout the organisation and is

communicated through formal and informal channels

Accountability: The risk management framework

and the risk policies clearly assign accountability for risk

management and decision-making to functions and

specific unit heads; staff acceptance of risk-related goals

and related values is essential

- Effective communication and challenge: An environment
must allow for open communication and promote
effective challenge in the decision-making process; this is
supported by independent Risk and Compliance functions

Financial and non-financial incentives are reviewed to
ensure they do not encourage excessive risk-taking.

-
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Risk governance and organisation

Risk management in the Company involves committees, functions and
business units. The figure below shows the Company’'s committees while the
roles of the different committees for risk management are described below:

Board of Directors & Committees 2018

Annual Report 2018 | 37



The Board of directors sets and approves the risk strategy,
the risk appetite and the risk management framework of the
Company and monitors its risk profile, as well as the
effectiveness of risk management.

The Risk Committee is the primary advisory committee to
the Board of Directors on matters relating to risk and
compliance. The Risk Committee proposes the risk
management framework of the Company and advises the
Board of Directors accordingly. in addition, it monitors the
risk profile, ensures that the risk management is effective,
reports on the state of risk culture and interacts with and
oversees the Chief Risk Officer and the Head Compliance.
The Risk Committee's work includes oversight of the
strategies for capital and liquidity management as well as
the management of all relevant risks of such as credit,
market, liquidity, operational and reputational risks, to
ensure they are consistent with the stated risk appetite.

The Audit Committee oversees the internal audit function,

which represents the third line of defence, and is

responsible for the oversight of: B

- The financial and business reporting processes, including
the selection and application of appropriate accounting
policies

- The integrated internal control systems for financial
reporting as well as the internal controls of areas beyond
financial reporting

- The Company’s tax risks

- The internal and external audit processes

The Management Committee is tasked by the Board of
Directors with the following responsibilities with regards to
risk management:

~ Consider the design and operating effectiveness of the
Company's risk management framework including risk
appetite, risk appetite framework and risk management
strategies, seeking Board approval as appropriate, and
ensure they are implemented,;

- Manage risk in line with the risk capacity of the Company
(defined according to capital and liquidity resources,
available funding and limits set by EFGI) and the risk
appetite/risk tolerance set by the Board.

- Review and comment upon sub-committee reports from
ALCO, Credit Committee and Operational, Regulatory &
Compliance Committee to determine a consolidated
Company risk profile and take action in relation to the
issues raised in the risk reports as it considers
appropriate;

- Consider the Chief Risk Officer's consolidated risk report,
including regulatory compliance and conduct risk, for

presentation to Risk Committee. Where Management
Committee disagrees with the Chief Risk Officer, the
Committee reserves the right to present a separate view
to Risk Committee.

The Management Committee will either directly or via
Operational, Regulatory & Compliance Committee, Asset &
Liability Management Committee or Credit Committee as
appropriate:

- Assess and supervise the operational and regulatory risks
of the Company and ensure risks are managed in
accordance with the defined risk appetite and tolerances
of the Company.

- Act on all material and/or business wide risk and controt
matters across the Company, including, but not limited to,
financial and non-financial (operational, regulatory,
compliance and conduct) risk as well as reputation and
strategic risk matters.

- Oversee the effective management of the Company’s
current and future balance sheet, with particular focus on
capital and liquidity, in line with its chosen business
strategy and approved risk appetite, under normat and
under stress conditions.

Risk Management Committees

Reporting to the Management Committee are a number of
committees that play key roles in the oversight of risk
management. These committees are established as forums
for discussion on important risk management issues, for the
identification of relevant changes in the risk profile and new
risks arising, for decision-making, and as a point of
escalation where resolution is required. Each Risk
‘Committee has dedicated Terms of Reference, which
provide more detail on membership, scope and
-responsibilities.

Risk Committees jointly ensure there is coverage of the key
Risk Categories for discussion, decision and escalation.
Information exchange across committees is maintained
through cross-membership.

The Operational and Regulatory Risk Committee is
responsible for oversight with regards to matters relating to
non financial risks including operational, regulatory
compliance, conduct and regulatory risk.

The Asset & Liability Committee is responsible for the

management of the Company's balance sheet and for the
implementation of capital atlocation across risk categories,
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In particular, it is responsible for the management of the
Company's market risk exposure and liquidity risk.

The Credit Committee has responsibility for.
the management of client credit risk and oversight of issuer

risk.

The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for oversight and
challenge of credit, ALM and operational risks of the
Company through:

- Risk identification

- Risk measurement

~ Risk monitoring and réporting

- Risk mitigation.

The Head of Compliance Officer teads the Compliance
function and is responsible for providing efficient support
to the Company’'s managing bodies with

regards to the management of compliance, regulatory and
reputational risk. In addition, the Compliance function is
also responsible for monitoring compliance with anti-
money taundering/know-your-customer and cross-border
activity rules, as well as adherence to product suitability,
product selling restrictions and the Code of Conduct.

Both Risk Management and Compliance interface with other
functions as required.

v~
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The three-lines-of-defence model

The Company manages its risks in accordance with a three-
lines-of-defence (3LoD) model. The 3LoD model delineates
the key responsibilities for the business, control functions
and audit to ensure that the organisation has a coherent
and comprehensive approach to risk management.

Board of Directors

Board Committees

The Company's interpretation of the 3LoD model is in line
with industry practice and is consistent with that of the
Company’s ultimate parent company, EFG international
incorporated in Switzerland.

An overview of the 3LoD model is presented in the figure
below:

i | Governing body of the Company
| Ensures that obligations to shareholders and
[ external stakeholders are understood and met

Senior Company committees
i Empowered to operate effectively under

Management Committee

the explicit delegated authority of the
Board of Directors

The three-lines-of-defénce

B 1* line:

R Risk ownership  Risk oversight

- Support the
establishment of an
effective risk
management
framework and
definition of risk
appetite

ki - Perform business

f  activities to satisfy
Company strategic
objectives, in line with
risk appelite

E - Accountable for risk
incurred in discharging §
these activities - Monitor risk profile and

- Design and operate escalate as appropriate

effective controls and
pracedures in line with
EFG policies and
procedures

d - Provide advisory
support and challenge
to first line of defence

Front office/Support
Functions
the business

Risk and Compliance

3 line:

Assurance

- Independent review of
adherence to
frameworks, policies
and general directives

- Ensure integrity of
decisions and
information flows

k — Periodic review of
activities across the 1
and 2" lines of defence
1o identify areas for
improvement as
required

Sound system of internal control

- Safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the Company assets

- Provides a clear framework for
accountability, oversight and assurance to
govern risk management associated with
discharging business activities

Internal
Audit
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Risk appetite framework

The Board of Directors approve the risk appetite framework.
The risk appetite framework describes the Company's
approach, governance and processes in relation to setting
risk appetite and is structured by qualitative considerations
(risks appetite) as well as quantitative considerations {risk
appetite metrics).

The risk appetite framework sets the overall approach

to risk appetite, documenting the level of risk that

the Company is prepared to incur; it includes:

- The risk appetite and risk tolerance limited, thresholds
and statements.

- Key indicators/metrics

- Risk exposure monitoring, reporting and escalation Risk
categories

The strategic, market, liquidity, credit, operational and
compliance risks of the Company are defined in the risk
management framework, in the risk taxonomy and are
described in the related risk policies. The risk taxonomy
identifies the risk categories that the organisation wants to
consider in its discussion of risk and provides a definition
of the identified risks. The risk categories establish a com-
mon language on risks and thereby enable alignment across
sbusiness units, geographies and functions.

Business and strategic risk

Business and strategic risk is the risk of loss arising from

changes in the business environment and from adverse

business decisions or improper implementation of
decisions. The business and strategic risk includes the
following risk categories:

- Client portfolio risk: The risk inherent in client portfolios
in general as well as the risk of a reduction in assets
under management and/or toss of client relationships as
a result of other risk types, e.g. performance, reputation,
operational risks, compliance, etc.

~ Strategic risk and governance: The risk of the enterprise or
particular business areas making inappropriate strategic
choices, or being unable to successfully implement
selected strategies or related plans and decisions, which
may result in a variance to business plans and strategies

- Competitive risk: The risk of an inability to build or
maintain sustainable competitive advantage in a given
market or markets

- Human resources risk: The risk arising from inadequate or
insufficient human resource performance and/or staffing
or key people (including client relationship officers)
leaving the Company

Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from the
failure of the Company’s borrowers and other
counterparties to fulfil their contractual obligations and
that collateral provided (if any) does not cover the
Company's claims. The credit risk arises not only from the
Company's client lending operations but also from its
Treasury activities. The Company incurs credit risk from
counterparty default, on traditional on-balance sheet
products (such as loan or issued debt), where the credit
exposure is the full value but also on off-balance sheet
products (such as derivatives) where the ‘credit equivalent’
exposure covers both actual exposure (as a function of
prevailing market prices) and potential exposures (i.e. an
add-on for volatility of market price) or other guarantees
issued (contingent liabilities).

The Company's credit risk exposure is comparatively low
because it's primary credit exposures relate to loans
coltateralised by mortgages, cash or securities portfolios; or
unsecured exposures to rated financial institutions and
corporate bond issuers.

Credit risks related to clients

The credit risk strategy for private banking clients is explicitly

defined in the Company’s risk appetite framework, and is

based on four dimensions, as described below:

- Client type: The Company's client business is focused on
its private banking clients and includes loans to
individuals and to standard wealth planning structures
held by private individuals. In all cases, the borrower or
beneficial owner must be able to bear the financial risk of
the loan. In addition, where the loan is secured by real
estate or any other non-financial asset or where the
extension of credit relies on elements other than the
value of the collateral, the borrower or guarantor must be
sufficiently credit worthy to repay the loan should the
collateral (if any) be insufficient to cover the loan balance

- Credit purpose: Credits are extended to finance or re-

finance the purchase of real estate. In addition, credits

are extended in order to leverage portfolios of financial
assets and to support margin requirements for foreign
exchange or other derivative positions.

Collateral type: Credits are secured by real estate

primarily residential but also commercial or by diversified

portfolios of financial assets including cash, bonds,
equities, precious metals and funds, as well as £EFG

International Group guarantees and life insurance

policies. The Company may consider exposures with a risk

concentration against shares at conservative loanable
values provided that the quality and the liquidity of the
collateral justifies it; or, may provide loans on an
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unsecured basis, subject to the credit worthiness of the
client

- Profitability: The Company seeks to optimise the
profitability of its lending business and has established
requirements for the minimum pricing of loans and the
minimum arnount of banking business required to justify
the extension of credit. The Company focuses on the
profitability of the overall banking relationship.

Counterparty credit risk

The Company incurs counterparty credit risk in

its Treasury activities, where credit risk derives from the
financial assets and derivative instruments that

the Company uses for investing its liquidity and managing
foreign exchange and interest rate risks in its funding and
lending transactions. To ensure the efficient management of
its banking activities, the Company engages and maintains
business relationships with said counterparties only if
certain criteria with regard to solvency, reputation and the
quality of the services received are met.

Global limits are proposed and approved by the Company's
parent, EFG International and delegated to the Company.
Delegated amounts considered and approved by the
Company's Credit Committee and subject to country limits.
The responsibility for management of delegated
counterparty credit risk lies fully with the Company. The
Credit department monitors the adherence to delegated
limits:

Country risk

Country risk is defined as the transfer and conversion risk
that arises from cross-border transactions. Country risk also
encompasses direct and indirect sovereign risk, the default
risk of sovereigns or state entities acting as borrowers,
guarantors or issuers.

EFG International Group determines the country risk that it
wishes to accept and the exposure allowed to these
countries.

Market risk

The Company is exposed to market risk, which mainly arises
from foreign exchange, interest rate, share prices and
commodity prices.

The Company's balance sheet and off-balance sheet
positions generate low foreign exchange risk and interest
rate exposures. The Company has no exposure to equity and
commodity risks.

The management of Company's interest rate risk exposure
is performed in accordance with risk appetite on the impact
of various interest rates scenarios on economic value and
interest income sensitivity. The Company uses value at risk
(vaR), sensitivity analysis and stress tests as methodologies
to monitor and manage foreign exchange risks inherent to
its structure.

The market risk strategy at balance sheet level approved by

the Board of Directors is defined as follows:

- To manage interest rate risk in line with predefined
interest rate limits and risk appetite to generate profits
for the benefit of the Company

- To manage foreign exchange risk in order to control its
impact on annuatl results

The Company holds an investment portfolio that allows it to

diversify balance sheet assets and to optimise any excess

liquidity, To mitigate the credit spread and interest rate

exposure, minimum country and issuer rating standards and
concentration limits have been determined. In addition,

VaR, interest rate, credit spread sensitivities and stress

metrics as well as P&L limit are computed and monitored. {

The investment portfolio risk strategy approved by the t

Board of Directors is the following:

- To seek to turn liquidity into profit while maintaining
liquidity buffers with high-quality liquid securities in
accordance with external rules

- To generate income primarily through taking liquidity,
interest rate and credit spread risk, and only incur non-
material FX risk in the banking book

- To not take on any equity, commodity, longevity and
mortality risk

- To limit the extent of concentrations in our investment
portfolio

The Company manages liquidity risk in such a way as to
ensure that ample liquidity is available to meet
commitments to customers, both in demand for loans and
repayments of deposits and to satisfy the Company's own
cash flow needs. The Company's customer deposit base,
capital and liquidity reserves position and conservative -
gapping policy when funding customer loans ensure that

the Company runs only limited liquidity risks.

Liquidity is handled by treasury, which ensures the ongoing
process of sourcing new funds, in the case of a lack of
liquidity or the investing of funds, if there is an excess of
liquidity and are responsible for ensuring compliance with
liquidity regulation and risk management limits.
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The Company also has a liquidity management process-in
ptace that includes liquidity contingency plans.

Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting
from the inadequacy or failure of internal processes, people
and/or systems or from external events. It includes
compliance and legal risks, regulatory sanctions and
agreements. Operational risk differs from other banking
risks.in that it is not normally assumed directly against an
expected gain; rather, it is an inherent part of the day-to-
day activities and is therefore a risk common to all the
Company's activities.

The Company aims to mitigate significant operational risks it
may inherently run to a level it considers appropriate and
commensurate with its size, structure, nature and complexity of
its service/ product offerings, thus adequately protecting its
assets and its shareholders interests:

The Board of Directors and senior management strive to
set the operational risk culture through, among others, the
definition of the overall operational risk appetite of the
organisation (expressed in quantitative thresholds and
qualitative statements), which is embedded in the
organisation's risk management practices. The supervision
of operational risk at the Board of Directors level is under
the responsibility of the Board Risk Committee:

While the primary respdnsibility for managing operational
risk lies with the first line of defence, the development,
implementation and oversight of the operational risk policy
of the Company forms part of the objectives of the
Operational Risk Management function.

The operational risk management work in collaboration with
functions that also undertake operational risk oversight for
their respective area of responsibility, such as the Chief
Financial Officer, the Chief Operating Officer, the Head of
Compliance and the Head of Legal. The principal aim of
operational risk management is to ensure that the Company
has an appropriate operational risk management framework
and program in place for identifying, assessing, mitigating,
monitoring and reporting operational risk. The operational
risk management team reports to the Chief Risk Officer,

Main tools applied by the Operational Risk Management for
the identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting of
operational risk are:

- Assessment and monitoring of key operational risks

- Monitoring of key risk indicators

-~ Collection, analysis and reporting of operational risk
events and losses

- Consolidated operational risk reporting to the Chief Risk
Officer and Board Risk Committee

~ Follow-up of actions taken to remedy key operational
risk-related control issues

- Establishment of an operational risk awareness
programme

The Company designs and implements internal controls ard
monitoring mechanisms in order to mitigate key operational
risks that it inherently runs in conducting it's business.

The Company continuously invests in business continuity
management in order to ensure continuity of critical
operations in the event of a major disruptive event.
Business continuity management encompasses backup
operating facilities and IT disaster recovery plans, which are
tested regularly,

Considering the rapidly evolving risks relating to IT security
and data confidentiality in the financial industry, the
Company continuously assesses its cyber defences and
internal processes in order to ensure adequate mitigation
of risks and adherence to the increasing regulatory
requirements in this area.

As a member of the EFG Internationat Group the Company is.
covered by insurance to hedge (subject to defined
exclusions) potential low-frequency-high-impact events.
EFG International Group administers centrally three layers
of insurance cover, being comprehensive crime insurance,
professional indemnity insurance and directors, and

-officers, liability insurance. The Company manages

insurances such as general insurances locally.

Compliance risk

Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal or regulatory
sanctions, material financial toss, or loss to reputation
which the Company may suffer'as a result of its failure to
comply with laws, regulations, rules, related self-regulatory

-organisation standards, generally accepted practices, and
:codes of conduct applicable to its banking activities.

The compliance risk is idéntified, measured, monitored,
reparted and mitigated by a clearly distinguished and
dedicated Compliance department, in alignment with the
roles and responsibilities defined in the Company's risk
management framewaork.

Changes in the regulatory environment are monitored, and
policies and procedures are adapted as required. In line
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with these evolving regulations, the Company continuously
invests in personnel and technical resources to maintain
adequate compliance coverage.

A compliance risk policy is in place, complemented by a
comprehensive set of standards and procedures and
regular specialised training sessions delivered to all staff to
raise their awareness and understanding of the compliance
risks.

Compliance risk is managed in accordance with the 3LoD,
outlined in details in the risk management framework.

The Company aims 1o mitigate any compliance risks that it
inherently runs taking into account the size, structure,
nature and complexity of its business and services/product
offering. The Company is committed to sound and-effective
compliance risk management as the core foundation for a
sustainable financial institution. Effective compliance risk
management means meeting the compliance obligations
and protecting the Company from loss or damage. It is vital
for long-term-oriented and sustainable business.

A major focus of regulators is the fight against money
laundering and terrorism financing. The Company has in
place comprehensive policies on anti-money laundering
and know your customer, as well as on anti-bribery and
corruption, to detect, prevent and report such risks. Through
dedicated monitoring and quality assessment programmes,
the Compliance ensures compliance these.

The Company has defined a set of standards governing the
cross-border services it offers, and has developed country-
specific manuals for the major markets it serves. Mandatory
staff training is in place to ensure adherence to the
standards and compliance with the country manuals. They
are complemented by a tax comptiance framework. Those
frameworks are continuously enhanced to comply with new
regutations such as MiFID Il or CRS.

Conduct risk is managed by the Compliance department,
which maintains the relevant policies and has oversight
over the monitoring of the regulated asset management
businesses and the associated discretionary management
of assets. The same team also ensures that all products or
securities sold to clients or bought for them have been
through the appropriate approval process.

Legal risk )

Legal risk is the risk to the firm's profitability arising from
changes in legislation and/or as results from legal actions
against the institution.

The General Counsel ensure the Company adequately
manages and controls its legal risks. This includes
supervising and giving strategic direction to all outside
counsel advising the on civil, regulatory and enforcement
matters.

Any change in the legal environment can constitute a
challenge for the Company in its relations with competent
authorities, clients and counterparties.. The General Counsel
function is responsible for providing legal advice to
management as well as handling client complaints and
assisting authorities in their criminal and administrative
investigations. it has principal responsibility for overseeing
and advising the management on significant civil litigation
and all government enforcement matters.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is defined as the risk of an activity
performed by the institution or its representatives impairing
its image in the community or public confidence, and that
this will result in the loss of business and/or legal action or
additionat regulatory oversight. Typically a result of other
risk categories.

The Company considers its reputation to be among its most

important assets and is committed to protecting it.

Reputational risk for the Company inherently arises from:

- Potential non-compliance with increasingly complex
regulatory requirements

- Potential non-compliance with anti-money laundering
regulatory requirements

- Its dealings with politically exposed persons or other
clients with prominent public profiles

- Its involvement in transactions executed on behalf of
clients other than standard investment products

- Potential major incidents in the area of IT security and
data confidentiality

- Potential malfeasance by its employees

- Any other potential negative internal or external event
arising from other risk categories (e.g. in case of
significant downturn on bonds or equities markets or of a
blow up of a particular housing market speculative
bubble, etc.)

The Company manages these potential reputational risks
through the establishment and monitoring of the risk
appetite by the Board of Directors, and through established
policies and control procedures.
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6. Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the passibility that a financial loss will
occur as a result of a borrower’s or counterparty’s deterio-
rating creditworthiness and/or inability to meet its financial
obligations. The Company'’s primary credit exposures relate
to loans collateralised by mortgages, cash or by securities
portfolios, or to rated financial institutions, sovereigns and
corporates.

6.1 Credit risk managomerit

(a) Loans and advances .

A basic feature of the credit approval process is a
separation between the Company's business origination
and credit risk management activities. Credit requests are
initiated by Client Relationship Officers and must be
supported by a senior independent member of the Credit
Committee. The Company's Credit Committee ensures the
implementation of the credit policies and procedures
defined by the Board and approves major client credit
related risks. The Credit Administration Department
monitors credit exposures linked to and arising from
investment securities, amounts due from banks, and loans
and advances to customers, against approved limits and

pledged collateral. Management is required to understand
the background and purpose of each loan (which is typically
for investment in securities, funds, and investment related
insurance policies or real estate) as well as the risks of the
underlying collateral of each loan.

The Company’s internal grading system assigns each client
credit exposure to one of ten rating categories. The rating
assesses the borrower's repayment ability and the value,
quality, liquidity and diversification of the collateral
securing the credit exposure. The credit policy and the
nature of the loans ensure that loan book is of high quality;
Consequently, an overwhelming majority of the Company's
credit exposures are rated within the top three categories.

Following table describes the internal definition of different
grading level (broadly they follow the risk categories of
external rating agencies):

Grading Description of grade S&P's rating
o Top Secured by “cash collateral or equivalent” - good diversification AAA

2 High Secured by “cash coltateral or equivalent” - imperfect diversification. AA

3 ey G004 Secured by other collateral” A

4 Good Partly secured by “cash c’ollate;?['t;? égai'l:i"\'/‘&ileﬁ't‘:"&muﬂ.'m e ) 'BBB

5 Acceptable Unsecured but prime borrower BB

6 Weak Borrower situation/collateral value is deteriorating B

7 Poor Conditions of initial credit are no longer being met ccc

8 nACCEPLADIE e rest 15 10 longer being paid _ collateral is being held

g otential loss 4 Bank holdsr'ill:i}q.;u'i'd - l;nc-;l.(ectit;l'e or no collateral o o

0 s SSr nisns Sfateral o uncollectibte collateral ; o

BRSO S SRRV A s

(b) Debt securities and other bills

For debt securities and other bills, external credit ratings
such as Standard & Poor's rating or their equivalents are
used the Company for managing the credit risk exposures.

6.2 Risk imit control and mitigation policies

Credit loans guaranteed by real estate are treated in con-

formity with regutation pertaining to examination, valuation
and treatment of credits guaranteed by real estate and with
the internal poticies and procedures on mortgage loans. All
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the real estate provided as collateral must be evaluated by

the Credit department and/or by external professionals.

Mortgage valuations are reviewed annually using statistical

(indexation) methods, and larger mortgages are subject to
periodic independent valuation.

To qualify as collateral for a lombard loan, a client's
securities portfolio must generally be well diversified with
differing haircuts applied depending on the type of risk
profite and liquidity of the security. Additional haircuts are
applied if the loan and the collateral are not in the same
currency or diversification criteria are not fully met.

The Credit department monitors credit exposures against
approved limits and pledged collateral. If necessary, they
initiate rectification steps. Most collateral is valued daily
(but may be valued more frequently during periods of
high market volatility). Structured notes, certain mutual
and hedge funds are valued monthly, whereas insurance
policies are valued at least annuatly.

Management of exposure to financial institutions is based
on a system of counterparty limits coordinated at the

EFG International Group level, subject to country limits.
Limits for exposure to counterparties are granted based

upon internal analysis. The limits are set and supervised by

the relevant Group Committees depending on each
counterparty’s S&P or Moody's ratings (with reference to
individual and support ratings) and on the counterparties
total equity. These limits are annually reported to the
Group's Risk Committee.

Other specific control and mitigation measures are
outlined below.

(a) Collateral

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to

mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the

taking of security for credit exposures. The Company

implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific

classes of collateral for credit risk mitigation. The principal

collateral types for loans and advances are:

- Mortgages over residential and to a limited extent
commercial properties

- Charges over cash balances held with the Company and
cash equivalent

- Charges over financial instruments such as debt
securities, equities and funds

- Bank guarantees

(b) Derivatives

The Company maintains+a strict monitoring of credit risk
exposure induced by over-the-counter derivative
transactions versus dedicated limits granted. Credit risk
exposure considers the current credit risk exposure through
the mark-to-market of the transactions and the potential
future exposure through dedicated add-on factors applied
to the notional of the transactions. While being ignored in
the computation of credit risk, the Company has signed
mitigating agreements with its most important financial
institutions counterparties; with collateral paid or received
being taken into consideration,

(c) Credit related commitments

Credit related commitments include the following:

- Guarantees, forward of risk and standby letters of credit;
these carry the same credit risk as loans

- Commitments to extend credit; these represent unused
portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. The Company is
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the
total unused commitments. However, commitments to
extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining
specific credit standards

The guarantees and irrevocable lines of credit can be drawn

by the customers only if the client has adequate collateral

pledged with the Company. Should the guarantees and

irrevocable lines of credit be drawn, the majority of the

facilities would be rated by the Company with an internal

rating of 1to 3.

aw

0.3 Crerlit loss measurament

‘The Company applies the ‘three-stage’ approach introduced

by IFRS 9 for impairment measurement based on changes in

credit quality since initial recognition:

- Stage 1: financial assets that have not experienced a
significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial
recognition

- Stage 2: significant increase in credit risks (SICR) since
initial recognition but not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired

- Stage 3: credit-impaired on payment default

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their expected credit
losses (ECL) measured at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that result from default
events possible within the next 12 months. instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected
credit losses on a lifetime basis.
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The ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis
depending on whelher a significant increase in credit risk
has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit-impaired.

Specific ECL measurements have been developed for each

type of credit exposure. Generally the three components of

ECL are exposure at default, probability of default and loss

given default, defined as follows:

- Exposure at default (EAD} is based on the amounts the
Company expects to be owed at the time of default over
the next 12 months (12-month EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving
commitment, the Company includes the current drawn
balance plus any further amount that is expected to be
drawn up to the current contractual timit by the time of
default, should it occur

- Probability of default (PD) represents the likelihood of a
borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per
‘definition of default and credit-impaired’ below), either
over the next 12 months (12-month PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation

- Loss given default (LGD) represents the Company's
expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure.
LGD varies by type of counterparty, and availability of
collateral or other credit support, LGD is expressed as a
percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default
(EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis,
where 12-month LGD is the percentage of EAD expected to
be non-recoverable if the default occurs in the next 12
months and lifetime LGD is the percentage of EAD
expected to be non-recoverable, the default occurs over
the remaining expected lifetime of the loan

0.4 Due from banks and investregnt securitios

This includes all assets that are classified as follows:

- Cash and balances with central banks

~ Treasury bills and other eligible bills

- Due from other banks

- Investment securities - Fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Inputs and assumptions

The ECL for all products above is estimated via three

components:

- EAD: Depending on the product and on the IFRS9 asset
classification; book value for amaortised cost assets and
purchase value adjusted for amortisation and discount
unwind for assets designated as FVTOC!

- PD: Estimated for a 12-month and lifetime period based on
external counterparty credit risk rating information
(Standard & Paor's annual global corporate default study
and rating transition)

~ LGD: For Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets. LGD for sovereign, bank
and corporate exposure is approximated by an expert
judgement aligned to the credit default swap 1SDA market
standard that estimates a recovery rate for sovereign
exposure of 40%, resulting in 60% LGD. In case of Stage 3
assets, LGD value is determined on an individual basis for
sovereign, bank and corporate exposure

Estimation techniques

Macroeconomic expectations for sovereign securities and

central banks debt are incorporated via their respective

rating obtained from Standard & Poor's as part of their
assessment of counterparty credit risk. For banks and
corporate counterparties the PD and related transition
matrices are impacted on the basis of EFG international

Group's macroeconomic expectations.

Significant increase in credit risk .

An internal expert panel performs a quarterly assessment to
determine if an asset is subject to a significant increase in
credit risk. A rapid deterioration in credit quality triggers an
ad-hoc review of the individual asset. in addition to the
quantitative SICR test based on changes in the rating
agency's rating for the respective financial instrument, the
assessment of the expert panel considers a range of
external market information (e.g. credit default spreads,
rating outlook). The assessment of whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk is a relative measure,
dependent on an asset's PD at origination. For assets
existing at 1 January 2018, the initial application date of IFRS
9, this information is not generally available. Consequently,
management judgement based upon historical regression
analysis has been used to determine a reasonable basis for
estimating the original PD. More detailed analysis of the
evolution of lifetime PD’s versus initial recognition PD's will
be developed for future reporting periods.

Definition of default

The default is triggered through a payment default on the
instrument or any cross-default indication from rating
agencies.

6.5 Rosidential and commercial morigages
This includes assets that are classified within loans and

advances to customers that are predominantly secured
by real-estate collateral.
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Inputs and assumptions

The ECL for mortgages is estimated by four components:

- EAD: the exposure considers contractual repayments, as
well as potential drawdown over the lifetime of the loan

- Rank ordering of loans: each loan is assigned to a risk
grade on the basis of its credit quality (i.e..rank order
estimation)

- PD is derived from historical transition matrices. To derive
forward-looking default estimates, these matrices are
conditioned to the macroeconomic expectation of
Company

- LGD: the loss estimate is calculated based on the
possibility to cure (derived from the transition matrix), as
well as loss given loss (LGL) component. The LGL takes
into account the current LTV and the future recovery value
of the underlying collateral. The recovery value depends
on parameters such valuation haircuts and their volatility,
time to sell the collateral, as well as associated selling
costs. The house price development until sale, as well as
the effective interest rate are also taken into account

Estimation techniques -

Forward-looking macroeconomic effects are incorporated
with forecasts on gross domestic product (GDP) growth and
house price development.

The GDP forecasts impact the migration matrices used to

determine the PD and the probability to cure considered

in the LGD:

~ GDP growth for the United Kingdom is estimated with an
explicit forecast for the United Kingdom

- GDP growth for all other countries is estimated with a
weighted forecast for the major global economies

House price developments for the UK are estimated with an
explicit forecast for the London area. House prices for other
countries are estimated with a weighted forecast that includes
the major global economies., The house prices impact the LTV
ratios used to calculate the LGD.

Significant increase in credit risk

SICR for these assets has occurred if any credit is greater
than 30 days past due. Other criteria used to identify assets
with SICR are the relative deterioration in credit quality
since origination, also taking into account the internal
scorecard rating and credit watch list status, or if a loan has
previously been defaulted.

Definition of default

Mortgages are considered to be in default if the credits are
greater than 90 days past due. Other criteria used to
identify non-performing assets are the internal scorecard

rating, watch list status and individual assessment of the
respective counterparty.

Lombard lending

This includes assets that are classified within loans and
advances to customers, including Lombard loans and other
exposures covered by financial collaterals.

Lombard loans are loans secured by diversified portfolios of
investment securities, and the risk of default of the loan is
driven by the valuation of the collateral. The lending
decision is not based on ‘traditional lending’ criteria such

as affordability, and is typically undertaken by clients with
an existing investment portfolio who wish to leverage their
portfolio in pursuit of higher investment returns or for
diversification reasons or who have short-term liquidity
needs.

Inputs and assumptions

The ECL for Lombard lending are estimated with two

components:

- ECL due to adverse rnarket price movements in the
collateral that captures the risk that a shortfall arises
when collateral values decrease to a level insufficient to
cover the respective lombard loan exposure and

- ECL due to a default of a large single collateral position
(Top 1to Top 5) yielding a shortfall for the lombard loan
exposure

Due to the importance of collateral characteristics for
lombard lending asset segmentation has been defined
balancing the need for a high granularity and the
tractability of overall model. Asset classes have been
distinguished by asset price volatility, credit and liquidity
risk. Asset ctasses differentiate cash and cash equivalent,
bonds, equities, funds, commodities, guarantees,
derivatives, real-estates, insurance policies and other
assets. Further asset sub-classes consider other relevant
characteristic such as investment grade or non-investment
grade issuance, or country of issuance.

ECL due to adverse market price movements is based on

assumptions regarding:

- Loan-to-value (LTV) close-out trigger levels

- Market price volatility of underlying collateral sub-asset
class

- Currency mismatch between loan and collateral

- Close-out periods

- Exposure at close-out considering a credit conversion
factor for undrawn lombard credit lines
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- LGD considering sales cost incurred during collateral
liquidation

ECL due to default of a large single collateral position are

based on assumptions regarding:

- Risk concentrations in top 5 collateral per asset sub-class

- PD for each sub-asset class based on counterparty
risk ratings

- LGD to assess the collateral value after default

- LTV close-out trigger levels

- Market price volatility of underlying collateral
sub-asset class :

- Currency mismatch between toan and collateral

- Close-out periods

- Exposure at close-out considering a credit conversion
factor for undrawn lombard credit lines

- LDG considering sales cost incurred during collateral
liquidation

Estimation techniques

Differently from the general measurement approach, ECL
measurement for lombard loans do not consider the PD of
the borrower. The measurement approach calculates the
probability that a given loan hits its close-out trigger level,
conditional on this, its expected positive exposure (EPE) is
calculated. This carresponds to an uncovered shortfall
which in combination with the LGD parameter determines
the ECL. For tombard lending, no additional macro-
conditioning of variables is necessary as macroeconomic
effects are captured through parameters like valatility and
LTV levels.

Significant increase in credit risk

Credit risk for lombard loans is based on the underlying
collateral. Hence, a SICR is driven by LTV metric for each
individual lombard loan that is at or above the closeout
trigger. Stage 2 lombard loans are loans with LTV above the
close-out trigger which according to policy could have been
closed out, but have been decided to be maintained, taking
a higher credit risk.

Definition of default

Lombard loans that were closed-out or have their collateral
liquidated, resulting in an actual shortfall, or where
liquidation is still in progress resulting in a potential
shortfall are considered credit-impaired and classified as
Stage 3.

{ther loans

This includes assets that are classified within loans and
advances to customers that are not lombard loans nor
mortgage loans and includes overdrafts and unsecured
lending.

Inputs and assumptions

The ECL for other loans is estimated by four components:

- EAD: the exposure considers contractual repayments, as
well as potential drawdown over the lifetime of the loan

~ Rank ordering of loans: each loan is assigned to a risk
grade on the basis of its credit quality (i.e. rank order
estimation)

- PDs are derived from historical transition matrices for
commercial loans. To derive forward-looking default
estimates, these matrices are conditioned to the macro-
economic expectation of the bank. Other, non-commercial
loans, used an adjusted transition matrix that replicated
their historical default rates due to the insufficient
number of historical observations

~ LGD: the loss estimate is calcutated based on the
possibility to cure (derived from the transition matrix), as
well as a LGL component. The LGL takes into account the
current LTV level and the future recovery value of the
underlying collateral, for collateralised or partially
collateralised exposures. Expert-based LGL rates are used
for exposures without collateral

Estimation techniques

Forward-looking macroeconomic effects are incorporated
with forecasts on GDP growth and house price
developments. See residential and commercial mortgages
for details. '

Significant increase in credit risk

SICR for these assets has occurred if any credit is greater
than 30 days past due. Other criteria used to identify assets
with SICR are the relative deterioration in credit quality
since origination, also taking into account the internal
scorecard rating and credit watch list status, or if a loan has
previously been defaulted.

Definition of default

Other loans are considered to be in default if the they are
more than 90 days past due. Other criteria used to identify
non-performing assets are the internal scorecard rating,
watch list status and individual assessment of the
respective counterparty.
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Contractual modifications

The Company modifies the terms of loans provided to
customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for
distressed loans, with a view of maximising recovery. Such
restructuring activities include extended payment term
arrangements, payment holidays and payment forgiveness.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators
or criteria which, in the judgment of management, indicate
that payment will most likely continue.

The risk of default of such assets after modification is
assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk
under the original terms of initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not result in
derecognition of the original asset. The Company may
determine that the credit risk has significantly improved
after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage
3 or Stage 2 in accordance with the new terms for the six
consecutive months or more.

a2

Write off policy

The company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part,

when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has

concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of

recovery include:

- Ceasing enforcement activity

- Where the Company's recovery method is foreclosing on
collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full

The Company may write off financial assets that are still
subject to enforcement activity. The Company still seeks to
recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have
been partially written off due to no reasonable expectations

-of full recovery.

Macra-economic scenario and sensitivity analysis

The ECL results are based on forward-looking projections,
These projections consider different macroeconomic
scenarios, in particular a base, upside and downside
scenario is considered.

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL are as

follows:

- For investment securities, treasury and other eligible bills
as well as for dues from other banks: GDP, given the
correlation with counterparties’ business environment,
hence in turn their ability to repay the loans.

- For residential and commercial mortgages: House price
index, given the impact it has on mortgage collateral
valuations; GDP, given the correlation with the customers’
wealth, as well as the commercial clients’ business
environment, hence in turn their ability to repay the loans.

- For due from customers - Other loans and Lombard
lending : Asset volatility, given the impact it has on
financial collateral valuations; GDP, given the correlation
with the customers’ wealth, as well as the commercial
clients’ business environment, hence in turn their ability
to repay the loans.
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Most significant Macro-economic scenario assumptions

“Downside "

House Price Index model assumptions are UK (London) reflecting the main geographic location of mortgage collateral.
A Weighted GDP Growth series model has been used as it is believed to better represent the internationat nature of the
Company's wealthy clientele better than a UK GDP series.

In addition, the list of changes to the ECL as of 31 December 2018 that would result from reasonably possible changes in the
follow parameters from the actual assumptions used:

Portfolio “ Scenario Impact on ECL Scenario {mpact on ECL
Due from Customers - Mortgage Lending e ¥200bps GDP . {25%) 100 bps GOP. 3.1%
+100 bps h -100 bps
.house price index , ... —w.....{0.2%) house price index _ .. 04%
S . - e e e e s
Due from Customers ~ Lombard lending.. . . .o ... asset volatility A% & e e
‘Due from Customers - Other.lending . STV 00 bps GOP . (12:87%) . ...-100 bps.GDP.. ... . o

e Eoremeree—— T

5.6  Colltavreral and other credil enhancements

The Company employs a range of policies and practices to

mitigate credit risk. The most traditional

of these is the taking of security for credit exposures. The

Company implements guidelines on the acceptability of

specific classes of collateral for credit risk mitigation. The

principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

- Mortgages over residential and to a limited extent
commercial properties.

- Charges over financial instruments such as debt
securities and equities.

6 Concenteation of risks of financial assety with credit
risk exposute

The Company manages the risk of concentration by

monitoring and reviewing on a regular basis its large
exposures.
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7. Credit risk exposure values of collateral of those financial assets that were
measured at amortised cost (or at fair value through other

The table below summarises the carrying values, credit comprehensive income) as of 31 December 2018:

grades, expected credit loss allowance by stage and fair

Total

carrying

AAA-AA A BBB-BB 8-C Unrated value

31 December 2018 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 @BP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

,Cash and balances with central banks

agtEaHiies

223D e 412,322,

e d063,380.
a1

| rlt securltnes =.FV
Total on-balance sheet assets as at
3 Decembef 2018 .

107 878

Fmanoal

3,134,540,

Total,,m,, 58,240 44650
Fair value of ECL
collateral held ) allowance
. Total N included in
carrying carrying
value ___ _ECLStaging _ . .. . values
' 31 December 2018 GBP ‘000 GBP'000  Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 GBP ‘000

Cash and balances w1th central banks i
{:ue from other banks o o

1012 721

EAay

Total on- balance sheet3§§3¥§§s at
31 December 2018 ) ) o . - 3,008,769_

ALoan Commltments »
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8.  Credit risk - gross exposures and loss allowances

8.1 Balances with central banks

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross
carrying values and loss allowances for Balances with
central banks (excluding Cash):

Stage 1
GBP ‘000

Balances with central banks - Gross carrying value

Stage 2
GBP ‘000

Stage 3

GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

,Gross carrying value as at. 1January'2018 . - 388,459 = = . 388,459
Financial assets derecognised during the
e(igd;other than write-offs . ..4388459) N Bz $388,459)
w financial assets originated - o
OFPUICRASEA | e ., 241,812 : e 201,812
Gross carrying value as at
31December2018 . .. oo e oo reenn 240,812 d 241,812

[T SRR - e LOET S LSt SO M

Stage 1
12-month
ECL

GBP ‘000

Balances with central banks - Loss allowance
N

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL

GBP ‘000

e T RS e

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

Loss allowance as at

31 December 2018 - ) =, paze U B
e e

Net carrying value as at

‘..3.1,Qe5:€.mher.2018 241,812

oo 24,812

ST e TS SETTTTTTETTTTIT e S

There were no purchased credit impaired balances during the reporting period, nor were the terms of any contracts

modified. In addition, no amounts were written off in the period.

Annual Report 2018 | 53



8.2 Due from other banks

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross
carrying values and loss allowances for Due from other

banks:
Due from other banks - Gross carrying value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Gross'cafrying value as at 1 January 2018. .. ... %0495 . im -
Financial assets derecognised during the
Jperiod other than. write-off R o<1 1°F) OO - {90,495)

New financial assets originated

or purchased _ . . . —— 17 13
Gross carrying value as at
31December2018 . . oevepecwenns. . 88,518 oo T e 88,518,
There were no purchased credit impaired balances during the reporting period,
nor were the terms of any contracts modified. In addition, no amounts were .
written off in the period.
Due from other banks - Loss allowance . Stage 1 * Stage2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ’QOO GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Loss allowance.as.at 1 January 2018 O . S 1
Financial assets derecognised during the
riod; other:than write-offs > (1)
Loss allowance as at
31December20%8 . . . s 2 e . - N
Net carrying valueasal e o )
31 December2018. . o o ocoemirwnr 88,516 IR

There were no purchased credit impaired balances during the reporting period,
nor were the terms of any contracts modified. In addition, no amounts were
written off in the period.
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83 Investment Securities (FVTOCI)

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross
carrying values and loss allowances for Investment securities

held at fair value through other comprehensive income:
%

Investment Securities (FVTOCI) - Gross carrying
value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

Gross, carrymg valueasat 1january2018_. .. ... ..-617,977 . 617,977

[ N e ]

RN e r—: A

Financial assets derecognised during the
period other than write:offs
New financial assets originat
or purchased

(150,545) . coveosismmmmnsics A A 190:545),

S13369 e < 513,369

(2,599)

Gross carrying value as at
.31 December.2018 ...

£ o 1,012,759,

Investment Securities (FVTOCI) - Loss

allowance Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL ECL TJotat

GBP ‘000 GBI? ‘000 GBP ‘OOQ GBP ‘000

Balance as of 1. January 2018 . L L. . - ST . ;, i 45

Movements with P&L impact - New financial
assets ongmated or purchased

‘New financial assets originated
9 purchased

Loss ailowance as at
31.December 2018 _ ..

“N&t carrying value as at
31 December 2018, . onae e . 2,012,721 N NPV - Vo %w1 012 721

,.‘.;_—....,“,g_«- EREEa——t) T T T

There were no purchased credit impaired balances during the reporting period,
nor were the terms of any contracts modified. In addition, no amounts were
written off in the period.
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8.4 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers comprise the following:

31 December 2018 1 January 2018
GBP'000 . ..GBP'000

(i) Mortgage loans

{1
501401

(562,

1,581,248

LTI AL S S e F e P s S e

(i) Mortgage Loans
The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross .
carrying values and loss allowances for mortgage loans:

Mortgage loans - Gross carrying value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Balance as of1 January 2018 b 1,010,794 | . 42748 . . .. 28911. e 1 082 453
Transfers

(14,823) L A18055) 361,11

g eI an Aty

WEE

il LT03) e (1,703)

New fmanoal 355613 ongmated
or purchased

4623

16,519

Gross carvying value as at

L3 Qﬂu.miv 2018

LT e,

e 1,026,136 41,718 3740 _...1,104,994
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Mortgage loans - Loss allowance Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
.,Loss.allo.wance as of 1.January. 2018 o . .60 o 70 .. ... .=1,814 1,944

EETrya— = o

1ransfers

Financ‘ial'éése’{'s"'dé?éc‘b’g“'h“isg&’a uringthe
(ure) .58

sty

period i A T s A A 2
Reclassified to Other dlld Lombard Loans dunng ' :
theperiod. o oo e inmmen mmrn
New ﬁnancral ssets originated-
orpurchased

MCOrEReacs prertiaen gt i Sisaan

e L ABB) e

440 o 524

There were no purchased credit impaired balances during the reporting period,
nor were the terms of any contracts modified. In addition, no amounts
were written off in the period.
(i) Other and Lombard loans
The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross
carrying values and loss allowances for Other and Lombard
loans:
Other and Lombard loans - Gross carrying value Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000
Balance asof1 january 2018 . 469,226 . . .31445 _ .. .. . ... 730, .. .. 501401

" “ransfer from Stage 110 Stage
: Transfer from Stage 1.1o.5tage 3. .
. Transfer from Stage 2 to Sta e_1
Fmanual assets derocogmsed durmg the

Anmnai

AT e
i ek

SRS IEETTA I R s

126,990 s (12,335) . (e66) (139,992)

196,345 200 s B2 s 196672

P oottt iabe A Rt Tt et

or purchased n )
Reclassnﬁed from Mortgage Loans durung the

perlog,_,, o
1Gfossfc;anylng»v;ilugasm
‘31 Decoriiber2018 e s 561000, e 7,683 11,464 560,247
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Other and Lombard loans - Loss altowance Stage 1
12-month

ECL

GBP ‘000

Total
GBP ‘000

Loss allowance as of 1 January 2018 ) 68 B 183 o 411 . ] 662

Transfers

_..Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 7
 Transfer. from Stage 1t0, Stage 3,.

. Transfee from Stage 2 to Stage 1

Financial assets derecognised during the

period . e £121) (32) (361) __(514)

New financial assets originated '

or purchased bttt T 1 O P e or )

Reclassified from Mortgage Loans dunng the ‘ S em——

LT A Y S S , ' -t I -

FXand othermovements T ) T Ty g ) 13

‘Loss allowance asat o o '

31 December 2018 . e 97 R 3 . 1237 e, - 1,337

T
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9. Market risk

Market risk refers to fluctuations in interest rates, exchange
rates, share prices and commodity prices. Market risk
derives from trading in treasury and investment market
products which are priced daily; as well as from more
traditional banking business, such as loans.

The Company engages in the trading of securities,
derivatives, foreign exchange and money market paper on
behalf of its clients. The Company does not engage in
proprietary trading in securities. The Company maintains

small proprietary positions in foreign exchange instruments:.

The Company separates exposures to market risk into either
trading or non-trading portfolios. Both securities and
foreign exchange exposures are strictly limited by nominal
overnight and Value at Risk (VaR) limits. Foreign exchange is
also subject to intraday limits, as well as to daily and
monthly stop loss monitoring. Adherence to all limits is
monitored independently of Treasury department who are
responsible for managing Market risk.

Due to the nature of the Company's business and the
absence of any meaningful proprietary trading activities, the
market risk resulting from trading positions is limited
compared to overall market risk.

9.1 Markat risk measurement methodology

Market risk exposure is measured in several ways: nominal
and “value at Risk” (VaR) exposure, gap reports, sensitivity
to risk factors and stress tests. VaR is not used for
regulatory reporting of risks. It is used internally only, for
control and management purposes.

The Company applies strict limits to all market risks. Limits
include nominal, stop loss, rating quality and concentration
types, depending upon the nature of the market risk
concerned. These limits are calibrated by a VAR exposure
measurement. This VAR approach focuses on assessing the
potential loss impact on open risk positions measured
under normal market conditions. In addition, positions are
also measured in the event of extreme market movements
(stress testing) and also against nominal limits.

The major measurement techniques used to measure and
control market risk, are outlined below.

(a) value at Risk

Value at risk (VaR) measures the potential loss impact on
open risk positions, under normal market conditions. VaR is
calculated using statistically expected changes in market
parameters for a given holding period at a specified level of
probability. The Company's internal VaR model, takes into
account relevant market risk-takers and unitssThe internal
model is based on a variance/co-variance approach and
uses a 99% one-tailed confidence level. The model assumes
a 10-day holding period for purposes of group internal risk
reporting, with a 201-day observation period for market
variables. The VaR model is adjusted on an ongoing basis in
respofise to developments in the financial markets and to
changes in our risk management needs. Risk parameters
based on the VaR methodology are calculated daily and
monthly market risk reports, showing the relationship
between risks calculated on the VaR basis and their related
returns,,The use of this approach does not prevent losses
outside of these limits in the event of more significant
market movements.

(b) Stress tests

VaR calculations are complemented by various stress tests,
which identify the potential impact of extreme market
scenarios on portfolio values. These stress tests simulate
both exceptional movements in prices or rates; and drastic
deteriorations in market correlations. In addition to nominal
limits and stop losses, they are the primary tools used by
internal market risk management. Stress test results are
calculated daily, monitored independently and reported to
management.
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9.2 Market risk hedging strategies

The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from
many aspects of its business. The Company implements
different risk management strategies to eliminate or reduce
market risk exposures. Risks being hedged through
derivative financial instruments are typically changes in
interest rates and foreign currency rates

or effects of other risks. The Company implements fair value
and cash flow hedging strategies.

(a) Fair value hedging strategies

The risk being hedged in a fair value hedging strategy is a
change in the fair value of an asset or liability that is
attributable to a particular risk and could affect P&L or the
economic value of equity. Changes in fair value might arise
through changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or
other attributes. The company implements fair value hedges

of individual hedged items (micro fair value hedging) as
well as of a portfolio of hedged items (macro fair vatue
hedging).

(b) Cash flow hedging strategies

The risk being hedged in a cash flow hedging strategy is the
exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability
or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect
P&L or the economic value of equity. Future cash flows
might relate to existing assets and liabilities, such as future
interest payments or receipts on floating rate debt. Future
cash flows can also relate to forecast revenues or costs
deriving from a foreign currency exposure. Volatility in
future cash flows might result from changes in interest
rates or exchange rates.
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9.3  Market risk measurement

VaR Summary

The following table presents the VaR (10-d / 99%) for interest rate
risk and for currency risk (without considering interdependencies

between interest rate and currency risks) considering all positions
at balance sheet level:

VaR by risk type ot nne-AL31.DeCEMbEr ) 12 months to 31December . .. ...
T e T T Average High Low
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000

2018

2017
Interest. rate risk
Cufrency nis
s

The Company carries out foreign currency operations both The interest rate risk net sensitivities are based on banking
for its clients, and for its own account. Foreign exchange risk  book on- and off-balance sheet positions and consider

arises from future commercial transactions, recognised behavioural assumptions. The interest rate risk impact on
assets and liabilities and net investments, and trading equity economic value and on net interest income for the
activities in foreign gperations. From time to time, the three major currencies are shown below:

Company may enter into currency hedging arrangements to
reduce the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on its
‘income.
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The table below summarises the repricing gap of the Company's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by
the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates:

Upto3 S 3-1R 1-5 OverS Non-interest
o months months years years bearing Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000" GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 .
As at 31 Decembei 2018
Assets
wd balances wnth central banks 262321 202322
' 84, 88,516
1663 ‘380

inancial mstrumen(s .
I—|nancxal assets at fair value through other ~
comgm_henswe mrome

3l| 438

e Hety,

..-3,073, 236

N S

346 452

AP

T e 700 SISETSTRITT onees
al f‘nancnal a sets 2,088,317 . . ..159989 .  .369,799 ..

Liabilities
Due 10 olher banks

s eSO LI28, =L 367

Provnsmns | .
\Other llab|ht|es N A
.IQ.ta_L fi nanaal‘_ll.a.bllmes

e sesiome e P R TR

On balance sheet mterest repricing gap

66,631 Y18 326037, 2913320

303,168 _...366434

12787100157

139916
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3,821

Other luabllmes V -

40,380,

Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Non-interest
months months years years bearirlg Total
GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000 GBP 000
As at 31 December 2017
Assets
Cash and balances w:th centrdl banks L. 386,573 s e e v e 2 274 ) . 388,847
Due from other banks 90,495 e 90,495
Loans and advances to customers 1 552 424“" 17 494 /‘,"1‘1,5110' o e, 1581428
Dprlvatlve fmanaalmstruments PR ,_' 9629 ) o . 9,629
Securities 88169 64 W6 a13 235 e «.,52,115 _ 617,977
Invesient n b o e ™" 10,060
Intangible assets . . T 432 432
Property plant and equipmem e - o s . 2267 . ..2,267.
“Deferred income tax assets - ) ) R, 3290~ o 3290
Other assets T N — - “24, 216 T, 216
Ifdial'ﬁ}iéncial‘éé's;ét'é' T 2 127 290 =81, 951 T h2479 2 728,583
Liabilities
Duetootherbanks.. . ... oeeewe . o 538,239 889 .539,624.
Due.to Customers... .. .. 1915172 13575 3928 747
.Derivative financialinstruments 113603 ""13,60:
'Subordlnated '[6éns Comm
Provisions o .

..446,290

Totalf‘nanmalllabllltles TTT2470835 14464 67426 . es. 1.1803 WN,z 594,228
On-balance-sh '.'nt,e,se,s.t..r?.g_ri@.i.ng..a@.a...‘.....,....4A,..(.3.ﬁ.3..,§fs{z).,. o STABO: 351620 2 52, ST 134,353
interest repricing ga 498,083 . ... (34,640) ... (411,386) ... (52,067) A

0. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet
its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due, and to replace funds when
they are withdrawn.

The Company manages its liquidity risk in such a way as to
ensure that sufficient liquidity is available to meet its
commitments to customers, both in demand for loans and
repayments of deposits, and to satisfy its own cash flow
needs. The Company also ensures that it complies with all
regulatory liquidity requirements. As part of the overall EFGI
Group Treasury management process, other banks within
the EFG! Group may place deposits, representing their
surplus liquidity, with the Company. These deposits are then
typically placed by the Company in short-term money
market assets.

100 Liquidiiy risk management process

The Company attempts to avoid concentrations of its
funding facilities. It observes its current liquidity situation
and determines the pricing of its assets and credit business.
The Company also has a liquidity management process in
place that includes liquidity contingency plans. These
contingency measures include liquidation of marketable
securities and seeking parent company support.

The Company complies with all regulatory requirements,
including overnight liquidity limits. In addition, it reports its
liquidity situation to EFG International Group Risk Unit on a
monthly basis, according to specific Group Risk Guidelines,
and to its management on a daily basis. Stress tests are
undertaken quarterly as standard. Both the Company's
capital and reserves position and its conservative gapping
policy when funding customer loans assist in reducing the
Company's exposure to liquidity risk.
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The Company's liquidity risk management process is.carried
out by Treasury and monitored independently. It includes :

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash
flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This includes
replenishment as they mature or are borrowed by
customers of funds - Maintaining a portfolio of highly
marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow

= Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal
and regulatory requirements, and

- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the farm of cash flow
measurement and proje'ctions for the next day, week and
month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity
management. The starting point for those projections is an
analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial
liabilities, and the expected collection date of the financial
assets. =

Treasury also monitors unmatched medium-term assets
and the usage of overdraft facilities. Sources of liquidity are
regularly reviewed by Treasury with the aim of maintaining
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product
and term.

10.2 Concentration risk

The overall level of liquidity exposure and corresponding
limits are tightly monitored by means of specific risk
metrics approved by the Board of Directors and in line with
the Company's overall committed level of risk appetite.

The Company’s concentration risks are managed through

the following mechanisms:

- Monitoring of compliance with ALM, funding concentration
and risk appetite limits assigned

- Informing approval bodies when ALM, concentration and
risk appetite limits are exceeded

- Proposing risk mitigation measures for ALM, concentration
and risk appetite thresholds

&
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10.3 Financial habilities cash flows date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

The table below analyses the Company's financial liabilities

by remaining contractual maturities, at the balance sheet For more detailed information on off-balance sheet
exposures by maturity, refer to note 48.

Upto1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Qver 5
month months months years years Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

31 becernber 2018
Liabilities

Due to other banks . _1367* N—

408 3791 e 1280,
o 36.0.1,_/

3 ':n_cial instrurﬁents .
ovlsuons and 1axat|on

- Sean e e o e

|'J

Totalf‘nancnal llablhtles . . .. 4,119,843 713522 .. .. 63985 ,,‘.___23 199 66,630 4,987,179

e sy o Py e

Total off balance-sheet . _ . 127,602.. . _ - ~z = 127,602
Uptot1 * 1-3 3-12- 1-5 Overs

month months months years years Total

GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP '000

31 December 2017
Liabilities
Due to other banks

s ..«.,,/4419 S o]
,.,,;r13,z91

SISO

280300, ... 37

Other habllmes .
Total ﬁnanual hablll es

rovisions and ‘faxatlon ’

2,853,439 584,140 9,718,

, 66 630

Total off balance-sheet i 145,638 -

Company's regulatory capital position and requirements are
11.  Capital management given in the Strategic Report of the Directorsx

The Company'’s objectives when managing regulatory capital
is to comply with the capital requirements set by the
regulator and to safeguard the Company'’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Further details of the
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12. Net interest income

31 Deceraber 2018 31 December 2017

GRIP'000 GBP ‘000

Available for sale Inve

Financial assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensi

Total interest and discount income

Banks and_customers
pok - Sreis

o (33“163:), -

G e £

Other borrowed funds

.Netinterestincome .

= et eal Rl

Total interest expense on banks and customers includes
negative interest on EUR and CHF deposits.

Interest expense in 2017 included GBP 2,446,000 interest on
GBP 66,000,000 Tier 2 sub-ordinated loans that were

converted to an additional tier 1instrument on 12t
December 2017.

13. Net fee and commission income

nd commission income

The annual coupon paid on the AT1 debt is treated as a
distribution from equity for IFRS purposes:

34 December 2098 31 December 2017

GEP 00D GBP ‘000

..=0.939

eI

ot fees and
‘commission

L ATESiaee

e

 other fees and com

PO P L

T AT

TR AT N S et L

. Net fee.and.commission income

St T T pEenCe——ry =

.

14. Dividend income

On investment in subsidiary

31 Decembait2018 31 December 2017

GBP 000 GBP 000
33,000 5000

_Dividend income .
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15. Net trading income and foreign exchange gains less losses

Net trading income of GBP 3,712,000 (2017: GBP 2,714,000) comprises
of results from foreign exchange transactions and results on
revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in other
currencies, including the mark-to-market of interest rate swaps
and currency forwards and swaps.

16. Gains less losses on disposal of financial assets at fair value through
Other Comprehensive Income

31 Dacembor 2048 31 December 2017

GBI "GO0 GBP ‘000

Debt securities e £ o 1,076
Gains less losses on disposal financial assets at fair value through

Other'Comprehensive Income L o 23 1,076

e

17. Operating expenses

21 Desember 2018 31 December 2017
G3P 000 GBP “000

Staff costs

T T T P T O LS S T TS e

..(60675)

(56,089

Administrative expenses...

AL S T T T e R A R A T,

18. Staff costs

#1 Docomber 2098 31 December 2017
GRP "0 GBP ‘000

.

.Wages, salaries and.staff bonuses .

43,675)
(6,720).

“Share optio
Staffcosts_

PTes o ——

As at 31 December 2018 the number of full time equivalent employees (FTE's) of the Company was 387 (2017; 338)..
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19. Loss allowance on financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

31December 2018 31 December 2017
GBP '000 GBP ‘000

Change in.loss allowances,., _— ... . w200 e A3
Loss allowance on financial assets at amortised costanddebt '
instruments measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income

o 2 e itoaTeaas o ae N T AT

20. Income tax

31December 2018 31.December 2017
GBP ‘000 GBP 000

Currant tax credlt 81

Pno: year, ad;ustment

Loz

Deferred tax Pnor yoar, 2N
Total income tax (charge) / galn

T 1520)

PR e — P N TR

The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount |
that would arise using the enacted tax rate, as follows:

vFQp,erating..profit'bequg tax o

Tax effect of:
Non-taxableincome. . oo e srmm e ann v e S2I0,

Total mcome tax (ch

(1 520)‘

PETRIEr Pt e pap e I D

The current tax charge, reported in the Income Statement, includes amounts provided for in relation to ongoing HMRC
enquiries.
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21. Cash and balances with central banks

31 December 2017
GBP ‘000

1 Decrmber 2018
GBP ‘000

10

262322

Cash and balances with.centrat banks

LR an e p—— T e

22. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise the following balances with less
than 90 days maturity:

31 December 2017
GBP ‘000

1 fageithet 2074
GBP BO0

282322 e 388,847

e 88516 90,495

— 330,838 479,347

23. Due from other banks

e T Freres EXCE R

31 December 2035 31 December 2077

GLP OGO GBP ‘000

49,451 46,104

: : 39085 Ah391

Due from other banks. _ 8516, 90495
Pledged due from other banks 1180,

VN TR

24, Derivative financial instruments
A DEaeS

The Company's credit risk représents the potential cost to
replace the forward or swap contracts if counterparties fail
to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, a
proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the
liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk
taken, the Company assesses counterparties using the same
techniques as for its lending activities. Credit risk on index,
interest rate and bond futures is negligible because futures

B 5 Ty T A S L R e T T e ey S R R e R b e g YRV

contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable
securities, and changes in their value are settled daily. The
notional amounts of financial instruments provide a basis
for comparison, but do not indicate the amount of future
cash flows, or the current fair value of the underlying
instruments. Accordingly, they do not indicate the
Company's exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative
instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable
(liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest
rates, credit spreads or foreign exchange rates, relative 1o
their terms. The fair values of derivative financial assets and
liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time.
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The fair values of derivative instruments held are set out in the following tablez

o pemimc3-DECEMbDEY 2017

*3,‘1,‘Uecegn,be;‘g,()"w P

Contract/
notional
amount
GBP ‘000

Derivatives held for trading
fForeign exchange derivatives
orward contracts

Fair values
Assets
GBP ‘000

Fair values
Liabilities
GBP ‘000

S

“Contract/
notional
amount
GBP '000

v =

Fair values
Assets
GBP '000

Fair values
Liabilities
GBP ‘000

aiesiiong VI A

Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps and fut.g'r'ges s oS

T T e TS T T T T

Total derivative assets/liabilities held

for tradmg 1,335,637 . 9,029 LY e b 571 6217 10,192
Derivatives held for hedging

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges

__Interest rate swaps e e £t = -3 st et e
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges e ‘

= iNterest rale swaps, 530 719.. 5076 2712 531007 ... .3,412,

Total derivative assets/ liabilities held o T

for hedgmg;g L _...530,719_._ . ..5076 w2712 . 531, 007 3417 3411
— R — - - = et e =
Total denvatlve assetslhabdmes e __A.1,78§A_6,356 - arer 1‘0 105 — e 8, 153 1,708:578 9,629 13,603
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26,2 Hedge accounting

The hedging practices and accounting treatment are disclosed in note 3(d).

31 December 2018

Fair value
of assets
GBP ‘000

Notional amount of
hedging item
GBP ‘000
Fair value hedge

Interest rate swaps 516,668

Fair value
liabilities
GBP ‘000

Change in fair value
used for calculating
hedge
ineffectiveness

Balance sheet
line item

GBP ‘000

Derivative financial

o (032) e

_nstruments.. ..

R R DN s T

228 <

Totalh

516668 . 4105

o (432)

edging item ]

[ge=ures

31 December 2018

- i eoes

Carrying amount of
hedged item
Liabilities

GBP ‘000

Carrying amount of
hedged item:Assets
* GBP '000

Fair value hedge

568,588

of Fair value

adjustments on the

hedged item

GBP ‘000 .,

™ Accumulated amount

Change in fair value
of hedged item for
ineffectiveness
assessment

GBP ‘000

Balance sheet
line item

Financial assets

oo VIOCk e (2,460)

AESRH

R abei CEE i e 2

(3508) .. ...

e e (2,460)

Jotal hedged item woooo . . 568,888 e o

31 December 2017

Fair value
of assets

Notional amount of
hedging item
0

GBP '00 GBP '000

fFair value hedge

Interest rate swaps.. . .. - oo

Ifair value liabilities

Change in fair value
used for calculating
hedge
__ineffectiveness

Balance sheet
line item

Derivative financial

Y

instruments . .._...4061

NS LRI LERTEEE

(1,508) .

v c. o 4061

Total hedging item _ . TS - S
_ e e, 31.0eCember2017 e

Accumulaled amotint

Carrying amount of
hedged item
Liabilities

GBP '000

Carrying amount of
hedged item Assets
GBP 000

Fair value hedge

Fixed rate bonds . .

of Fair value
adjustments on the
hedged item

GBP ‘000

,‘4“}_'-(‘1.217)

" Change in fair value
of hedged item for
ineffectiveness
assessment

GBP '000

Balance sheet
ling item

Financial assets

el K (4'061)

FVTOC

Siarins

i (1,217)_4

PR kit Arany

TR

(4,061),

RSl

Totalhedgeditem . _ ... . .. ._. 563031 .

Annual Report 2018 | 71

¥



Hedge effectiveness

The Company applies hedge accounting to interest rate risk
on fixed rate bonds (fair value hedge). The Company holds a
portfolio of fixed rate bonds and therefore is exposed to
changes in fair value due to movements in market interest
rates. The Company manages the risk exposure by entering
into interest rate swaps that pay fixed rates matching the
coupons of the bonds and receive floating interest rates,

Only the interest rate element is hedged and therefare
other risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged
by the Company. The interest rate risk component is
determined as the change in fair value of the long-term
fixed rate bond arising solely from changes of the interest
rate environment. Such changes are usually the largest
component of the overall changes in fair value.

This strategy is designated as a fair value hedge and its
effectiveness is assessed by comparing changes in the fair
value of the bonds attributable to changes in the
benchmark rate of interest with changes in the fair value of
the interest rate swaps.

The Company enters into these transactions on a ‘package
basis’, i.e. enters into the swap at the same time as
purchasing the bond, and structures the swap so that the
principal terms of the swap exactly match those of the
bond. As a result the hedging ratio is 100% and there is no
ineffectiveness.

pe
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25. Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

The following table presents the carrying amount of financial assets
measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income and
respective allowances for ECL as of 31 December 2018:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Gross Carrying Net Carrying  AFS Net Carrying
amount Loss allowance amount amount

GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 *GBP "000
285079 29 .. .285050. . ... 23]1143

s 204,481
420,402
F12.787
1012721

1
26. Loans and advances to customers
- ¥
3% Dacembar 2018 31 December 2017
GHP 000 GBP ‘000 i
Loans and advances to customers e
27. Loss.allowances on loans and advances to customers
UICH] 2017
EHP 600 GBP ‘000
At 1january. . s TS 10, 4 TN 3,700 4

Op

f,pr,oy_isjo_n
At 31December.. .
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28. Property, plant and equipment

Antiques and Leasehold  Furniture and Computer
artwork improvements equipment hardware Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
At 1 January 2077
Cost

Net book value.

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening net book. amount., e
Additions R Pl N B e

127 U606 2,267

Netbookvalue .. 381 1,

Year ended 31 December 2018

A sposal and wnte offs )
Elimination of depreciation on dusposal T '

or write-off o 2
e AR
Closmg net book value 1.57
At 31 December 2018
887 s 2808 e D204 13,991

D (320) el 1720)
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29, Intangible assets

Computer Total

software and Intangible

licences Assets

GBP '000 GBP ‘000

At 1 January 2017
COSt m ms im st oy s YA
Accumulated amortisation and impairment {192).
Net book value T 75
Year ended 31 December 2017

.Opening net book amount s e oo ot e ettt <o 75 ]5r

"Acquisition of computer software i
436,

and_licences c... ...uuue
Amortisation charqe for the year -
_Cornputer software and llcences

fClosmg net k book value

At 31 December 2017
Lost S T R A

/\ccumulated amortzsatton and mnpaurment
Net book value

ST

Yearaended 31 December 2018
Opening:net book amount
e R

Amortisation charge for the year -
Lomouter software and.licences....... ooy
Closmg;net book value "

e — PR L S L X

At 31 December 2018
Cost

\ tboo value -

e
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30. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxes are calculated under the liability method on all
temporary differences, using the enacted UK Corporation tax rate of 17% (2017: 17.0%).
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities comprise the following:

31 Dacombor 2018 31 December 2017
GBR'eGO GBP ‘000

3457 3,290

X assets

E—. - -—*3'4547 o AT e o 3:2901

s i Ta i e

Net deferred income tax assets ...

T Do ettt

The movement on the net deferred income tax account is as follows:

At 31 December

Analysis of deferred taxation balance:

A potential deferred asset of GBP 1,134,000 (2017: GBP 1,134,000) arising on unrelieved capital losses carried forward of GBP
6,070,000 has not been recognised in the financial statements as it uncertain whether the Company will generate sufficient
capital gains in future periods to utilise the asset.

31. Other assets

- 31 Dacamber 2018 31 December 2017
GEP "G GRBP ‘000

L A2.7 B Iy )0

6,196

. 7690

Other assets ’ L

3 e R BT
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32. Vvaluation of financial assets and liabilities

32.1 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(a) Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 13.requires classification of financial instruments at

fair value using a fair value hierarchy that réeflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for,
identical assets or liabilities

Assets

~ Level 2: inputs other than.quoted prices included within
Level 1that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as price) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

For financial instruments that are recognised at fair value
on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the towest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)

at the end of each reporting period.

There were no transfers between levels in the current year,

— = 21 December 2018

T level2 Level3  Total
GBP 'Qoo

GBP '000 . GBP '000

GBP ‘000

s i tieare AT o

e v 2105

1,0‘1"2.’7‘21

Total assets measured at falr value

1 026,826

Liabilities:

1,012,721 5,952 = ..1,018,673
ereeraiee = .o 31 DRCEMbEF 2017 .
- Level1l  Level2 T olevel3 7 Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

e AR I T T e e s

oo, 589,587

Total assets measured at falr value .

627, 606

589,587 .........38,019 . L e

attee 4 maise

T Rt T e L S

A TR T e ip s

JLiabilities .

e 603

Total Ilabllmes measured at falr value ) o o= .. 13603 . . . e “13 603‘
Assets less liabilities measured at fair value 589,587 24,416 & 614,003
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(i} Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the
group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily of quoted bonds and equity.

(ii) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2. If one or more of the

significant inputs is not based on observable market data,
the instrument is included in level 3.

(i) Financial instruments in level 3
There are no tevel 3 assets or liabilities.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial

instruments include:

- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments

- The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves

- The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the balance
sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to
present value

- Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining
financial instruments.
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33. Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

The table below summarises the carrying values and fair values of those
financial assets and liabilities that were measured at amortised cost as
of 31 December 2018:

Carrying value Fair Value Difference
Note GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

21 December 2018
Financial assets
_Due from other banks

663,380, . mnner, 1, 6681
1,751,896 1,757,532 5,636

i e A S M
BT IO P st

Financial tiabilities
.Due to atherbanks ... ..
customers

o Y
2,865,518 .. .. .aa. . ~..2,884,254

RIT==Fa e e N

Fsasasmmey ey

As at 31 December 2017
Financial assets

Financial liabilities
Due 1o other banks. .. . o i e

01, s 88828:
2,535,281, oooorn- . 2,557,231

r e e e ey

v P
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(i) Due from other banks

Due from other banks includes inter-bank placements and
items in the course of collection. The fair value of floating
rate placements, overnight deposits and term deposits with
a maturity of less than 90 days is assumed to be their car-
rying amount, as the effect of discounting is not significant.
The fair values are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(ii) Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment.
The estimated fair value of loans ahd advances represents
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows
expected to be received up to the next interest reset date.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates
to determine fair value. Determined fair values are within
level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(iii) Due to other banks and customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity,
which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the
amount repayable on demand. Expected cash flows are
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
Determined fair values are within level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

(iv) Subordinated loans-

The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows
expected to be received up to the next interest reset date.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates
1o determine fair value. Determined fair values are within
level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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34. Business combinations (Jersey)

Jersey Branch.

On 5 November 2018 the Company completed the transfer
of the private banking activities of the Jersey Branch of its
Guernsey subsidiary, EFG Private Bank (Channel islands)
Limited to a new directly owned Jersey Branch.

This restructuring of the business significantly strengthens
client offering and supports efficient management of capital
and liquidity. The transfer was structured as a dividend in
specie from EFG Private Bank (Channel Islands) Limited.

Summarised acquired balance sheet
Assets '
.Cash.and due from banks . .

The client assets and liabilities transferred are detailed
below. The fair value of the assets was equal to the carrying
value.

The incremental capital required to support the lending
business was transferred from EFG Private Bank (Channel
Islands) Limited by way of interim dividend following the
business transfer,,

31 December 201§
GBP ‘000

406,130

Loans.and.advances.
Other assets

Liabilities
Due to customers

Cher abilities . .o mmsnas:

Total Liabilities.

—— PR e ——
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35. Shares in subsidiary undertakings

The following is a listing of the Company’s main subsidiary at 31 December 20%8:

% Non
Country of controlling Investment at costl
Name Line of business incorporation % Ownetship interest GBP ‘000

Main Subsidiaries

 EFG Private Bank (Channelisland)itd . Bank ... .. . . . GUET’SEY. .o o 100%.0 o 0%y 110,000
Name Capital and reserves 2017 Net Profit after tax ~ Registered address
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
EFG Private Bank (Channel Islands Limited 111,508 16,983 A EFG House,
St Julian's Avenue,
St Peter Port, Guernsey
The subsidiary is held directly by the Company. The principal country of business of the subsidiary is its country of
incorporation. The accounting reference date for all companies is 31 December.
The percentage shareholding of the'subsidiary and Investment at cost are both unchanged from 2017.
36. Due to other banks
31 Decemher 2018 31 December 2017
GBP ‘000 GBP 000

37. Due to customers

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
_gyrrent accounts 824,813)
Jerm deposits . 1103934
Due tocustomers ... 2,244,736 . . 1928747
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38. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

31 Decamber 2018 31 December 2017

GBP "G00 GBP ‘000
. " s 66912 66,910
. o 66,912 66910
39. Provisions
Provision for Provision for
Provision for credit dilapidations restructuring  Other provisions .Total
default risks GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 ‘GBP ‘000

At1 january 2018 .

et een

At 1 January 2018

(hanges on initial apphcanon of
JERS 9

e ]

Provasnons utnhsed

At 31 December 2018

e e rasr e e EECE TIPS

Expected payment within 12 months

Expecged.payment__thereafter o

Provision for credit default risks

This relates to the expected credit losses under IFRS 9.
The Company calculates expected credit losses on off-
balance sheet positions primarily related to guarantees;
These losses are not expected to arise in the next 12
months.

Provision for dilapidations

A dilapidations provision is recognised when there is future
obligation relating to the maintenance of leasehold
properties. The provision is based on management's best
estimate of the obligation which forms part of the
~Company's unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations
under the lease contracts.

Provision for restructuring
Certain restructuring are taking place to increase the overall
efficiency of the business. The Company has provisions of

GBP 285,000 related to these. These are expected to be
settled within a year.

Other provisions

Other provisions includes provisions against operational
claims / losses, litigation and any other provisions not
classified as credit default, dilapidations or restructuring
related. it includes amounts provided for in relation to
ongoing HMRC enquiries.
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40. Contingent liabilities

The Company is involved in various legal and arbitration proceedings in the normal course of its business operations. The
Company establishes provisions (see note 39) for current and threatened pending legal proceedings if management is of
“the opinion that the Company is more likely than not to face payments or losses and if the amount of such payments or
losses can be reliably estimated. )

41.  Other liabilities

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
GBI 000 _ GBP ‘000

Trade creditors .. R
sDeferred income and accrued expen
Settlement balances ...
.§‘hort term comp 2

Total other liabilities _

42. Subordinated loans

3 December 2048 31 December 2017
interest rate % Due dates GHP 006 GBP ‘000

Subordinated loans
Additional Tier 15, oo 8.095% DA, o 66,910

.. 66910

The Company has borrowed GBP 66,630,000 in an additional tier | 'qualifying subordinated loan from its immediate parent
company. The subordinated loan does not have a maturity date. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 8.095% due to reset
on 12 December 2022, At that date the loan will fix at the benchmark rate plus a margin of 700bps. The loan can be called
by the Company after 12 December 2022. The loan contains clauses that (a) force a write down should the capital ratio of
the Company fall below a specified threshold, "a write down trigger” and / or (b) upon the occurrence of a "viability event”;,
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43. Share capital

Authorised Authorised
Ordinary Share of Ordinary Share of Issued, allotted Issued, allotted
GBP0.01each  GBP0.01each and fully paid  and fully paid
. Number GBP ‘000 Number GBP ‘000
At january 2007 190,000,000 %00 159,590,544
,.At 31 December 2017 i e v o, . o e a 190 000 000 e 1 900 ]
AL December 2008 ... e 190,000,000 1,900 B 159,590,544 . . . 1,596,

T L B T e e e o S T

"“During the year the number of ordinary shares issued was Nil (2017:Nil)

44. Share capital, share premium and capital redemption reserves

Capital

Ordinary Shares Redemption
Shares Premium Reserve Total
GBP ‘000 GBP '000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

NAt 1 January 2017 e 108,235

7

10000 .

T s—— e

o F T ST T

10 0()0_w s 108 235

Shares issued
‘At 31 December 2018

T e e e

The Capital Redemption Reserve results from the redemption of the entire 'Class A" ordinary share in 2005 as part of a
capital reorganisation.
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45, Other reserves
Revaluation Revaluation Employee
Reserve Reserve Hedging share
AFS Fvoct Reserve option plan Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000
Balance at 1January.2017 (OB e (B00) 12,871 11,430

Fmployee eqmty mccntlveplans amortlsatlon,__ .

3167'6." 3@26

- ,b(_hanges in fair. valusI hedge mstrument

fmployee eqwty lncennve plans exercised . ..o isoce (238). ... (238)
Transfer 1o retained earnings on lapse of employeo o
equity incentive plans B s - e (9,652) (9,452
Opening balance stock opuon transfer FRSZ e e - 1,669 1,669
Avallabe for sale securities . . o .
= Changes in fair value securities ..., - = {10752)
' - - . ..13937

Gen) o

s 2t s T sa b

At 31 December 2017 = . o e

Reclassmcatlon on adoption of IFRS9

Changcs on initial application of|FRS9 T T e
Restated balance aHlanuary 2018 R

At 31 December e e

31 Decsnber 2018

Employee edaltflnce_r‘ltlvc plar{si.gggg_r._c.[_s'gg e s " o (386) _{3s8)-
Fair value gains on cash flow hedges ... .. ) o - L2 e AT - (2%)
Net gains on investments in debt instruments

rneasured FVOCI net of tax oo i i i St i 12080 8 . - 878
AU Dexember 2013 \ s 1630 - (42) 11814 13402
46. Retained earnings

31 December 2017

Bap '()llf;-, GBP '000

At1january L e o e ,‘,“16 9sa (261)
,Changes on initial apphcanon of IFRS.9 (314) R
Net profit for the year ) T I Y k]
Dwndend paud on ordmary shares ®oo0) -
i o o (5395) . oo (281)
Openmg balance stock. opnon transfer IFRS2. @ (1,669)

income tax relatmg to components of other. comprehenswe income ...

r-

952

‘1ransfer to retained earnings on lapse of employee incentive plans T T .

38,279

16,954
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50. Employee equity incentive plans

The Company benefits from the EFG International Employee
Equity incentive Plan (the ‘Plan’). The Plan has different
classes of options and restricted stock units, which have a
vesting period of one, two and three years. The different
classes have earliest exercise dates varying from three to
five years from the grant date and ending seven years from
the grant date.

The expense recorded in the Income Statement spreads the
cost of the grants equally over the vesting period.

Year

granted Type

Assumptions are made concerning the forfeiture rate which
is adjusted during the vesting period so that at the end of
the vesting period there is only a charge for vested
amounts. Total expense related to the Plan in the Income
Statement for the period ended 31 December 2018 was GBP
3,723,000 (2017: GBP 3,626,000).

The following table summarises the outstanding options
and restricted stock units at 31 December 2018 issued to
employees of EFG Private Bank Limited which, when
exercised, wilt each result in the issuance of one ordinary
share in EFG International:

Granted Lapsed Exercised Outstanding

2452 082 e

50,1 2018 incontive plan

EFG International granted 738,828 (2017: 928,748) restricted
stock units in the year. There are two classes of restricted
stock units as follows:
e with a 3-year lock-up restriction (‘Restricted stock
units with 3 year lock-up’),
* with no lock-up condition attached (‘Restricted
stock units with 1/3 exercisable annually’).

Both of the classes vest 1/3 every year over the next three
years.

The weighted average deemed value of each Restricted
stock unit granted in 2018 is CHF 6.68. The values of the
restricted stock units were determined using a model which
takes into account the present value of the expected

dividends during the period between the grant date and the
earliest exercise date. The significant inputs into the model
were the arithmetic average share price (closing) of the five
consecutive business days following the earnings
announcement (CHF 8,11) and the discount determined by
management (20%) based on the expected life of the
restricted stock units (12 to 36 months).

50.2 2019 incantive plan
EFG International will grant restricted stock units in April

2019 at prices to be determined based on the relevant
valuation inputs on the date of issue.
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47. Dividends

31 December 2017
GBP ‘000

31 December 2018
GBP '000

Intedmdividend.. — ..o e

Jotal.... . e

g

48, Off-balance sheet items

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

GBR ‘000 GBP ‘000
Guarantees issued.in favour.of. thxrd partles " . i e ',19*«221’ R
Inevocable.co mutments ) e e 207,878 s
o 14,473
Total . - g e an ez 142,075 _161.1133
The following table summarises the Company's off-balance sheet items by maturity:
Not later than 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000 §BP ‘000
31 December 2018
Guarantees issued in favour of third pames oy - 13,888 N 5,836

PRS0 SACE R AR e

_Irrevocable. commitments 68,525
Operatmg lease co r L 3.7 9607, o e i
Total T ..53,024. ,.._83968 —

31 December 2017

Guarantees. lssued _in favour of third parties .. ..., .39,521

Jrrevocable.commitments, "'"13 133

92984

Operating lease commnt‘ 3, 127

' 101.73 e 1B70. 15,475

Total __ 55, 781

. .23, 611

’ 1,870‘ B “"i’éi"’,'“'ii’é.

The financial guarantees maturities are based on the
earliest contractual maturity date. The irrevocable commit-
ments maturities are based on the dates on which loan
commitments made to customers will cease to exist. The
Company leases its office space at a number of locations
from which it operates. None of the leases include

49. Fiduciary transactions

S e —— TS T

contingent rentals. Future minimum payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are disclosed in the table
above. There are no formal subleases agreements. During
the year to 31 December 2018, GBP 3,409,000 (2017: GBP
3,238,000) was recognised as an expense in the Statement
of comprehensive income in respect of operating leases.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 «

GBP 000 GBP '000
142,378 ...138,699
142378 138,699,

The Company holds money on behalf of some clients in accordance with the Client Money Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority. Such monies and the corresponding liability to clients are not shown on the face of the Balance Sheet as the

Company is not beneficially entitled thereto.
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51. Related party transactions

Fellow Subsidiaries  Key management personnel
GBP ‘000 GBP ‘000

31 December 2018

Assets

Other assets” ~ ~ "

Liabilities
Due tootherbanks .. .
‘D,érivativﬁfS._._A,, .

Year ended 31 December 2018
Interest income
:I'r‘ftéw,:r,.e S expems,e__, R
Netfee and commission.income

Fellow Subsidiaries Key management personnel
' +GBP ‘000 GBP '000

31 December 2017

Assets
Due from other banks
Derivati .
OLNErASSELS. .cvr, - rpoussares

Liabilities

ERLETO8 1y

DLIE to cust5me'f§' o cmm

Subordinate

Year ended 31 December 2017
nterest.income.

i e e SN e s, (il

AT YN CA e bt

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties. These include loans, deposits, derivative
transactions and provision of services, The amounts due from other banks reflect cash deposits, which like other third
party amounts classified as due from other banks are unsecured. Key management personnel comprise directors, key
members of the management of the company and of its parent, as well as closely linked parties.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2017: Nil).
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52. Key management compensation
3 Decaniber 2018 31 December 2017
G GBP

Aggregate amounts paid or treated as paid to key
management in respect of qualifying services

Short-term employment benefits

cia AL ISR IS

Pension contnbutmns .
Total

T D Ter e

53. Highest paid Director

The highest paid director did not exercise any shares option in the year. The amount reported above for year ended 31
December 2017 is as reported in the Company's 2017 Financial Statements. After adjusting for amounts that were subject
to shareholder approval of the ultimate parent the final amount paid respect of 2017 was GBP 1,382,000.

54, Aud”i'tors remuneration

31 December 2008 31 December 2017
GBY GBP

Fees payable for the audit of the Company pursuant to

246

146

256

ch lemslanon

Other Servnces
Total 470,

it e e ey E e £y B ek S A L S5 s N TR SRR s s e o izietis f = g mnran e R R A R R R
A LT L R Sy e e et e A s R L e S D T S R s 8 &

55. Assets under management and assets under administration

3% hetember8; 31 December 2017
GeP00; GBP ‘000
JTotal Assets under Management .. .. P 14,901,000 14,640,000
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